

## THE HAUNTING OF ROSE ABB

## The Arrogant Earls Novella

Kathleen Ayers



# THE HAUNTING OF ROSE ABBEY

## The Arrogant Earls Novella

Kathleen Ayers



© Copyright 2023 by Kathleen Ayers

Text by Kathleen Ayers

Cover by Dar Albert

Dragonblade Publishing, Inc. is an imprint of Kathryn Le Veque Novels, Inc.

P.O. Box 23

Moreno Valley, CA 92556

ceo@dragonbladepublishing.com

Produced in the United States of America

First Edition September 2023

Kindle Edition

Reproduction of any kind except where it pertains to short quotes in relation to adve promotion is strictly prohibited.

All Rights Reserved.

The characters and events portrayed in this book are fictitious. Any similarity to real persons dead, is purely coincidental and not intended by the author.

#### License Notes:

This eBook is licensed for your personal enjoyment only. This eBook, once purchased, may sold. If you would like to share this book with another person, please purchase an additional each recipient. If you're reading this book and did not purchase it or borrow it, or it was not play for you and given as a gift for your use only, then please return it and purchase your own co book was purchased on an unauthorized platform, then it is a pirated and/or unauthorized violators will be prosecuted to the full extent of the law. Do not purchase or accept pirate Thank you for respecting the author's hard work. For subsidiary rights, contact Dra Publishing, Inc.

© Copyright 2023 by Kathleen Ayers

Text by Kathleen Ayers

Cover by Dar Albert

Dragonblade Publishing, Inc. is an imprint of Kathryn Le Veque Novels, Inc.

P.O. Box 23

Moreno Valley, CA 92556

ceo@dragonbladepublishing.com

Produced in the United States of America

First Edition September 2023

Kindle Edition

Reproduction of any kind except where it pertains to short quotes in relation to advertising or promotion is strictly prohibited.

All Rights Reserved.

The characters and events portrayed in this book are fictitious. Any similarity to real persons, living or dead, is purely coincidental and not intended by the author.

#### License Notes:

This eBook is licensed for your personal enjoyment only. This eBook, once purchased, may not be resold. If you would like to share this book with another person, please purchase an additional copy for each recipient. If you're reading this book and did not purchase it or borrow it, or it was not purchased for you and given as a gift for your use only, then please return it and purchase your own copy. If this book was purchased on an unauthorized platform, then it is a pirated and/or unauthorized copy and violators will be prosecuted to the full extent of the law. Do not purchase or accept pirated copies. Thank you for respecting the author's hard work. For subsidiary rights, contact Dragonblade Publishing, Inc.



#### ARE YOU SIGNED UP FOR DRAGONBLADE'S BLOG?

You'll get the latest news and information on exclusive giveaways, ex excerpts, coming releases, sales, free books, cover reveals and mo Check out our complete list of authors, too!

No spam, no junk. That's a promise!

### Sign Up Here



#### Dearest Reader;

Thank you for your support of a small press. At Dragonblade Publish strive to bring you the highest quality Historical Romance from some best authors in the business. Without your support, there is no 'us' sincerely hope you adore these stories and find some new favorite along the way.

Happy Reading!

CEO, Dragonblade Publishing



#### ARE YOU SIGNED UP FOR DRAGONBLADE'S BLOG?

You'll get the latest news and information on exclusive giveaways, exclusive excerpts, coming releases, sales, free books, cover reveals and more.

Check out our complete list of authors, too!

No spam, no junk. That's a promise!

### Sign Up Here



#### Dearest Reader;

Thank you for your support of a small press. At Dragonblade Publishing, we strive to bring you the highest quality Historical Romance from some of the best authors in the business. Without your support, there is no 'us', so we sincerely hope you adore these stories and find some new favorite authors along the way.

Happy Reading!

CEO, Dragonblade Publishing

## Additional Dragonblade books by Autho Kathleen Ayers

**The Five Deadly Sins Series** 

Sinfully Wed (Book 1)
Sinfully Tempted (Book 2)

**The Arrogant Earls Series** 

Forgetting the Earl (Book 1)

Chasing the Earl (Book 2)

**Enticing the Earl (Book 3)** 

The Haunting of Rose Abbey (Novella)

## Additional Dragonblade books by Author Kathleen Ayers

**The Five Deadly Sins Series** 

Sinfully Wed (Book 1)
Sinfully Tempted (Book 2)

**The Arrogant Earls Series** 

Forgetting the Earl (Book 1)

Chasing the Earl (Book 2)

**Enticing the Earl (Book 3)** 

The Haunting of Rose Abbey (Novella)

### **Table of Contents**

Title Page

Copyright Page

Publisher's Note

Additional Dragonblade books by Author Kathleen Ayers

Chapter One

Chapter Two

Chapter Three

**Chapter Four** 

Chapter Five

Chapter Six

Chapter Seven

Chapter Eight

Chapter Nine

Chapter Ten

Chapter Eleven

Chapter Twelve

**Epilogue** 

About the Author

### **Table of Contents**

т.			-			
1	Ħ	P	v	a	๙	Δ
				a.	ᆮ	C
					$^{-}$	_

Copyright Page

Publisher's Note

Additional Dragonblade books by Author Kathleen Ayers

Chapter One

Chapter Two

Chapter Three

Chapter Four

Chapter Five

Chapter Six

Chapter Seven

Chapter Eight

Chapter Nine

Chapter Ten

Chapter Eleven

Chapter Twelve

**Epilogue** 

About the Author

# CHAPTER ONE

### "You're Collins?"

Miss Edwina Collins clasped her hands before her and took imposing gentleman behind the desk. "I am, Lord Bascomb."

She brushed away a strand of her hair stuck to her cheek. The sn her traveling clothes, wet wool, and dirt filled her nostrils. Mud clunş hem of her skirts. The trip to this remote estate a stone's throw away for Scottish border had not been achieved without some difficulty. She was her best.

"The Collins I hired to serve as my secretary?" A snort. "Y supposed to be male."

Under normal circumstances, when she didn't look like a bedragg Edwina's usual rigid politeness would come to the forefront and se well in dealing with Lord Bascomb. She'd known him less than an healready found him to be the rudest human being she'd ever encountere

"As you can see, I am not. Nonetheless, you extended an c employment and I accepted," she said in a tart, no-nonsense tone.

Bascomb had massive shoulders. Big hands. Edwina supposed if bothered to stand when she entered the study, he would tower over he least a foot or more. He narrowed his eyes at her, an arresting combine grayish green, the same hue as the lichen-strewn boulders bordering the ridden road up from Portsmith where the coach had dropped her counted the immense boulders on the journey while clinging to the the pony cart as it labored up the hill to Rose Abbey.

"And your cousin is the Earl of Southwell?" Bascomb possessed wicked-looking scar, which neatly divided the left side of his fact puckered flesh snaked from the corner of his eye down to the edge of h

His very full bottom lip. Oddly sensual for such a boorish man.

What a thing to notice at the moment, Edwina.

"Lord Southwell is indeed my cousin."

Edwina wasn't about to add that South had written the recomme for his spinster cousin under duress. Or that he was now halfway to with his new bride and unavailable to answer any more of Lord Bas irritating questions. All she'd asked of South was that the recomme make no mention of her sex so that she might secure a position based abilities. She may also have asked him to accidentally omit the 'a' a name, which had given Bascomb the impression she was Edwin a the Edwina. A small mistake that may have continued througho correspondence with Bascomb. It was no one's fault really.

nells of "I'm happy to know the truth was not stretched on that pertinent for the growled from behind the desk. "But I seem to recall the recommendation to the for *Edwin* Collins."

Bascomb, or any gentleman, was unlikely to hire a woman. The sa offered was far more than what a lady's companion or governess courou are two positions Edwina was not remotely suitable for. She was, howeve capable at ledgers, correspondence, and organization.

;led rat, "I cannot speak for Lord Southwell, but mistakes happen. I'm sure rve her merely an oversight."

our and "Which you allowed to continue."

d. Edwina cleared her throat. Really, wouldn't it be polite if Bascom of the stimulation of the stimulation

he had "You've wasted your time in coming here, Collins," Bascomb ser by at sounding very much like the grumpy, elderly curmudgeon Edwing ation of pictured him to be. During their short correspondence, she had the impute hole-he was an older gentleman. Gray-haired, of course. Perhaps slightly . She'd Bascomb admitted to her in his letters that he'd had enormous edge of keeping a secretary. She'd wrongly assumed his failure in keeping position filled was due to the remote location of Rose Abbey.

a rather Now Edwina had a suspicion the cause was Bascomb's persona ce. The lack thereof.

"You don't seem to be in a position to be picky," she replied. "( you another candidate?"

A second growl came from Bascomb. His eyes traveled ov bedraggled form dressed in the damp wool, frowning as a small clod fell with a plop from the edge of her hem. ndation "And I'm *here*." Edwina bristled under his assessment. "Ready to Egyptthe task of organizing your affairs."

comb's "Prickly, aren't you, Collins?" There was just the tiniest g ndationamusement in those unusual eyes.

on her "It has been a long journey." Edwina had been jostled across fter herEngland for two full days. Trapped with strangers in a coach, none of and notbelieved in the most basic principles of hygiene. She'd gasped for air a but herstop. She was tired. Hungry. Dirty. And she hadn't come all this way

Bascomb turn her out without at least giving her a chance to prove her act," he "I should send you back to Portsmith so you can return you from ion wasyou came. Outside London somewhere, I assume." Bascomb waved hand.

alary he Edwina looked out the window as thunder rattled the ancient p ld earn, glass, and waited. She stretched her fingers, bruised from clutching or, quiteof the pony cart. "Hampshire," she answered. Bascomb knew perfect where she'd traveled from. He'd sent her the money for the journey he e it was Bascomb shrugged his pair of mountainous shoulders as if Har and the environs of London were one and the same. The green-graflicked over her, settling somewhere in the region of her bosom, b askedreturning to her face.

th mud A small sensation of heat curled down the length of Edwina's b wholly unexpected reaction and one that made her unsure if she'd d snarled, right thing in coming to Rose Abbey.

na had Rose Abbey—once a haven for a group of Benedictine nuns ressionconvents and monasteries dotted England—was a dark, imposing pla addled.estate lay at the very end of a long road, all uphill, through woods so troublelittle sunlight filtered through the trees. Midway up the rise of the ing the Edwina had thought night had fallen. Her first sight of Rose Abbey reassured her.

lity. Or The part of the estate that had once been the abbey erupted out ground just outside the study window. A series of wide gothic Dr havestretched up toward the sky, like the skeleton of some huge, for creature whose bones had been picked clean. Roses were every ver hercrawling up the house as if to tear the stone apart. The bushes sprund of dirtthe ruins in wild disarray. Crimson blooms sprouted from the sprund

take onillusion Rose Abbey was dripping blood.

Most disturbing and not the least welcoming.

slint of The wind flung an untrimmed mass of twisting, torn buds again window, the thorns scratching along the glass with an eerie sound, half of Edwina's teeth rattle. The house shuddered as rain lashed against the plant fluor won't send you back to Hampshire tonight," Bascomb said in at everytone. "Not in this weather."

to have "How very kind of you." Edwina turned back from the winself. observe him once more. Her skin tingled, the earlier warmth from his whencestill lingering over her skin. The moment she'd been ushered into the a largeand caught sight of the large male sitting behind the desk, a shingled.

cascaded down the length of her arms. At first, Edwina had thought anes ofthe chill of the day, of the horrible rasping from the rosebushes the seatclawed at the house.

tly well But it was Bascomb.

re. The last time Edwina's body had hummed in the presence of a mapshireyears ago. Just before her family had fallen into genteel poverty any gazehopes of wedding without a dowry had disappeared. Now, at the beforetwenty-nine, Edwina was an avowed spinster. Such feelings as Bascor aroused had been firmly pushed to the back of her mind. Locked body. AExamined only late at night when Edwina was alone in her bed.

one the Such instant...*arousal* for Bascomb was frankly more unsettlir Rose Abbey itself.

, when He wasn't even handsome, at least in the conventional sense. His f ce. Thewere savagely hewn. Those glowing green-gray eyes, far too beau of densebelong to a man, were set atop bold slashes of cheekbones. Inky black he hill, straight and thick, fell to brush the tops of his broad shoulders. No crack had notcoat. Waistcoat hanging open. His shirt unbuttoned enough to give a specific of lightly tanned skin at his throat.

t of the Edwina shivered again.

arches His entire appearance, including the wicked scar stretching down rgottenside of his face, gave Bascomb the look of a pirate. All he was lacking where, eye patch and a parrot perched on his shoulder.

ig from She looked down at her poor, battered half boots. Bascomb poss rawlingpotent, striking masculinity. Few women would be immune to him. ave thecertainly wasn't. Resolutely, she pushed such thoughts aside and lif

gaze to his once more.

Lightning flashed outside the window, throwing the ruins of the inst theand abandoned church with its collection of gravestones into stark makingThunder shook the windowpanes once more.

anes. Bascomb muttered a string of curses under his breath. Most have a grimwith Edwina. None were the least polite, and the last few caused her

to pink slightly. She was no prude. She hadn't been a maid in many dow tobut...well, *good Lord*.

regard "My lord." She gave him an unflinching look, determined to brae studyout despite her attraction to Bascomb, and his attempts to intimidate ver had "Did you not state your need for a secretary? Someone who could o it onlyyour affairs, handle the ledgers, and reply to correspondence? Despite as they Edwina searched for the proper word.

"Femaleness?"

"Yes. That." She clasped her fingers tighter. "The polite thing can waswould be to at least allow me the opportunity to show you how I cannot herassistance." There was a plea hidden in her words, the desperation age ofthrough her show of bravery no matter how hard she struggled to ke nb nowbay. If Bascomb turned her away, Edwina wasn't sure what she would laway. "What about me, *Collins*, strikes you as the least polite?" Massive

drummed atop the desk. Thick. Blunt. How would they feel tugging thanbuttons of her dress? Or possibly searching beneath her skirts?

Good Lord. Something is terribly wrong with me.

features "Did anyone mention to you," Bascomb grumbled, "why I've run to tiful toalmost every earnest *male* secretary in England? Why I've had so ck hair, difficulty, *Collins*?" There was a tiny, almost invisible tug at his lip vat. Nopuckered skin bisecting his left cheek danced.

glimpse Wretch. He's enjoying my discomfort.

Edwina straightened her shoulders. "I assume their rapid departur something to do with your charming personality, my lord," she snapp the leftimpolite response was the result of her wet clothes, growling stoma was anunexpected attraction to Bascomb. It was certainly not the load of tri

McDeaver, the owner of the pony cart that had transported her he essed afilled her ears with during their blessedly brief acquaintance.

Edwina Something like approval gleamed in Bascomb's eyes at her shart ted her "I'm sure McDeaver took great pleasure informing you of what to

upon your arrival."

e abbey "From you, my lord? Or Rose Abbey?"

Rose Abbey. As had the wife of the tavern owner who'd brought Edv d to dowhile she'd waited for McDeaver to be located. And one of the laborer cheekstable next to Edwina had seen fit to embellish the tale and give his c years, The denizens of Portsmith had eyed Edwina with pity while she'd bitt the stale biscuits served with her tea, whispering about the terro eve this awaited her at Rose Abbey.

ate her. Haunted. Cursed. Someone may have even said the abbey stood rganizegates to hell.

my—" Bascomb's beautiful eyes roved over Edwina once more. It appears interest was not solely related to whether she could organic correspondence properly.

3 to do Another burst of heat stretched out across her limbs.

n be of "You've got spine, Collins. I grant you that."

seeping "So I've been told." The trait, while useful when dealing with ep it atgentleman she must compel to keep her on as his secretary, made Edv do. unsuitable candidate for marriage. Her lack of a proper dowry didn fingers Passably pretty looks combined with a sharp tongue weren't enough t at theany gentleman to wed her without something more for their trouble.

"Mr. Fielding"—Bascomb's paw of a hand stretched across the de reaching for her—"bolted from Rose Abbey in the middle of the throughwearing nothing more than a nightshirt for his sprint down the muchPortsmith. Boniest knees I've ever seen on a man. The idiot is fortups. Thedidn't trip on the way down the road in the dark and break his neck."

"Mr. Fielding?" Edwina asked.

"Your predecessor. He refused to return to collect his things. I had es havethem on to Portsmith at great expense to myself."

ed. The There was a vengeful spirit roaming the estate, at least accorrch, andMcDeaver. The specter of the final abbess who presided here. She had ipe thatRose Abbey quietly, sacrificing herself and the group of nuns who're, hadhere. The abbess had refused to accept the rule of her sovereign, claim

only answered to God. The nuns had been raped and slaughtered, the retort.run through with a sword. Whatever wealth the abbey had possess expectnever found. The abbess, McDeaver insisted, still haunted Rose Abbey

day.

Absolutely ridiculous.

tale of "Perhaps Mr. Fielding had a delicate constitution," she repli vina teahowever, do not."

s at the Edwina didn't believe in ghosts. Nor vengeful nuns. The exodupinion.Rose Abbey was more likely the result of Bascomb being a difficult ten into She had pointed out to McDeaver, during his macabre recitation ors that butchering of innocent nuns, that there was a staff in place at Rose

Surely if the abbey was haunted, it would be difficult for Lord Basc 1 at thekeep servants as well.

McDeaver had shot her a churlish look.

ired his When the pony cart had pulled up in front of Rose Abbey, a mize hispromptly opened the weathered doors and greeted Edwina. True, the § somewhat timid. Pale. Her voice had trembled as she'd introduced he Meg.

Edwina's trunks had been unceremoniously launched out of the pc a rudeto land in the dirt. McDeaver had snapped the reins and started back dowina annoad toward Portsmith without so much as a goodbye.

't help. "Could it be possible Mr. Fielding found the working conditions to swayhis liking?" she said rather pointedly to Bascomb.

Bascomb's lips twitched once more. "I can't imagine, Collins."

sk as if More rain pelted the windows. The fireplace hissed as dripping menight, found its way down the chimney. Finally, Bascomb gave a shill toresignation, apparently coming to some sort of decision. He shoved a nate hestack of papers toward her. "There is a desk set up in the library for your solution."

Perhaps you can sort through these tonight in return for a bed and a meal."

to send Edwina schooled her features, careful not to let the triumph show face. Bascomb could bluster all he liked, but it was clear he needed ding togreat deal of it. Ledgers were strewn all over the study, as well as ln't leftinkwells, bits of string, and what looked like a stuffed ferret. "I we'd livedhappy to, my lord."

ing she "But I'm sending you back to Portsmith tomorrow once the vabbessclears," he groused. "Don't bother to unpack."

ed was "I understand completely, my lord." Edwina picked up the state to thispapers. She would have preferred to be allowed to change and wash

from her hands and face before starting such a monumental task, but remained Bascomb wasn't tossing her out. At least not yet. "Where vied. "I, find the library, my lord?"

"Go back to the staircase and then down the hall on the other sid is fromattention returned to his desk, pencil flying across a piece of paper. SI master.to catch a glimpse of what he was sketching, but all she could make of thethe shape of a peaked roof.

Abbey. Edwina came forward and picked up the stack of papers at the edg omb todesk. Struggling with her wet skirts and the correspondence, she may out of the study. Rain battered the house as the wind howled aro stone. She could almost make out the sound of the waves crashing vaid hadagainst the cliffs outside. The hill Rose Abbey sat atop ended with no girl wasunscalable cliffs above the ocean. Purposefully, Edwina knew, to reself as Viking raiders who had once plied the coast. Rose Abbey's isolatical allowed the nuns who lived here to flourish, forgotten by the rest of the ony cartfor hundreds of years.

own the Until someone had remembered and their peaceful existence had en

3 not to

noisture sigh of messy our use. a warm

in her help. A papers, ould be

weather

tack of

from her hands and face before starting such a monumental task, but the fact remained Bascomb wasn't tossing her out. At least not yet. "Where would I find the library, my lord?"

"Go back to the staircase and then down the hall on the other side." His attention returned to his desk, pencil flying across a piece of paper. She tried to catch a glimpse of what he was sketching, but all she could make out was the shape of a peaked roof.

Edwina came forward and picked up the stack of papers at the edge of his desk. Struggling with her wet skirts and the correspondence, she made her way out of the study. Rain battered the house as the wind howled around the stone. She could almost make out the sound of the waves crashing violently against the cliffs outside. The hill Rose Abbey sat atop ended with massive, unscalable cliffs above the ocean. Purposefully, Edwina knew, to avoid Viking raiders who had once plied the coast. Rose Abbey's isolation had allowed the nuns who lived here to flourish, forgotten by the rest of the world for hundreds of years.

Until someone had remembered and their peaceful existence had ended.

# **CHAPTER TWO**

 $E_{\text{XHAUSTION SEEPED INTO}}$  Edwina's bones as she made her way out study. Perhaps it was her fatigue that accounted for the heaviness about her shoulders. Or the sadness that suddenly filled her.

Damn McDeaver and his lurid tales.

After marching back to the staircase leading to the second flo turned to head down the opposite side of the house and caught sight trunk sitting in the foyer. A woman stood before the battered trunk, all in black with a lace cap perched atop her gray-streaked hair. Painfu to the point of gauntness, the woman was all sharp bones and angles. expression hovered about her lips, the woman evidently not the least at the sight of Edwina. Or possibly it was the muddy trail Edwina was across the floor.

"I am Mrs. Page," the woman announced without preamble, her v sharp as the rest of her. "Lord Bascomb's housekeeper. I'll hav things"—she cast a withering stare at Edwina's trunk—"taken upst room has been prepared for you."

"Thank you, Mrs. Page. I am Miss Collins. Lord Bascomb's secret "Indeed." A brow raised at Edwina. Mrs. Page had eyes like bits flinty and hard, with little interest in Edwina other than annoyance. "I wishes you to go to work immediately." She nodded to the papers clut Edwina's arms. "Not unexpected. Mr. Fielding left quite a mess in h to escape Rose Abbey. Please follow me and I'll escort you to the libra

"There isn't a parlor or—"

"All His Lordship's secretaries work in the library." She shook he "Much to their displeasure. Follow me, Miss Collins." Her skirts softly as she set out down the hall to the left of the stairs. "This pol Rose Abbey is original." She gestured with one hand. "And was or residence of the abbess. This wing is smaller, with fewer rooms, but contain the library, which was once the private quarters and office

abbess. When the first Lord Bascomb took ownership of the proper chose to build around her original home instead of tearing it do allowing the stone to fall to rubble as he did to the remainder of the and the church. That first Lord Bascomb was not a religious gentleman

"I saw the ruins outside Lord Bascomb's study."

"The entire backs of both wings face what remains of the of the structure. Lord Bascomb's study is directly opposite the library but settling other side. The entire west wing was added in increments by each succe Bascomb."

"I see." The slight difference in architecture as they moved into the or, she part of the house became readily apparent. The wood-paneled walls gate of her to stone. The ceilings were lower, the space of the hall tighter. dressed claustrophobic. Edwina had the strange sensation Rose Abbey was trully thin swallow her.

A sour Mrs. Page stopped, swinging open two large double doors at the pleased the hall. "I expected His Lordship might have you begin your work too leaving lit the fire in anticipation. The stone walls keep this part of the house and damp. Your quarters will feel much the same way." She looked u roice as ceiling. "They are directly above this room. Closer to the library for your convenience."

tairs. A "Thank you."

Edwina stepped into the library, taking in the room before heary." octagon shape of the library was unexpected, as were the high, of jet, windows at the back that gave a clear view of the abandoned church see he cliffs beyond. An enormous fireplace took up the entire right wall, the ched in crumbling in places, and the flames licked and hissed, devouring a sis hastelogs. Probably original to this part of the house. Above the fireplace ry." portrait of a woman dressed in flowing dark robes. A white he completely covered her hair and part of her forehead.

er head. "Lady Renalda," Mrs. Page said in a solemn tone. "The final abberrustled was her office."

rtion of Of course it was.

nce the Edwina looked up at the stern, unsmiling woman. McDeaver a it does residents of Portsmith reviled the abbess for sacrificing her flock for the of the of her own stubborn pride. The woman in the portrait was young Edwina had expected. And pretty. A small bouquet of roses lay in

erty, hecrimson like all the roses Edwina had seen thus far. Piercing blue eye own orback at Edwina, seeming to follow her progress toward the small desked abbeythe fireplace.

1." Lady Renalda certainly had the look of a vengeful spirit.

"I'll have Meg bring you tea and something to eat, Miss Collins. I originalyou'll find ink and paper in the desk."

on the "Thank you, Mrs. Page. Tea would be most welcome."

ceeding Edwina waited until the housekeeper left before settling herself desk. Her head fell to the wooden surface as she tried to pull back the olderof trepidation filling her. If she were wise, Edwina would head leve wayPortsmith as soon as the rain stopped. Her cousin, Southwell, had MildlyEdwina a home at his country estate. She could stay as long as she rying toOrganize all the artifacts he'd collected on his travels.

Looking around at the coldness surrounding her, Edwina thought end ofshe should have taken South's kind offer. But then, as now, Edwina c day andimagine living on her cousin's charity for the remainder of her days. See chillyno desire to be the poor, forgotten spinster relation who was trotted p at the family gatherings only to be viewed with pity. The very idea made for your feel small and insignificant.

Edwina lifted her head. She must brave this out. It was far too second thoughts. She was here. The correspondence before her er. Theexcellent start to prove her worth to Bascomb before moving on archedledgers. Not only was her penmanship splendid, but Edwina's atter and thedetail, along with her love of numbers, was a singular skill. Her e stoneallowed her to spot errors others did not, particularly useful when keep stack offather's books.

hung a A sudden wash of sadness pierced Edwina's chest. Her father has addressdesperately to hide the truth of their approaching poverty, but Edwing seen how the ledgers had been padded just the same. She'd done with stretching every shilling to ensure there would be coal and sor to eat in the larder. Kept a roof over their heads for far longer than thought possible. In the end, all her efforts hadn't mattered. She'd stand theforced to sell everything.

he sake Edwina craned her neck to the side and caught Lady Renalda glaer thanher with those judgmental eyes. Why did Bascomb keep the portrainher lap, abbess? Seemed odd given Lady Renalda's reputation for haunting.

s gazed Lightning streaked across the windows at the back of the besidefollowed by another roar of thunder.

Two very distinct thuds came from the bookcase nearest the wi along with the sound of something moving along the floor.

believe Edwina leaned back in the chair, peering into the gloom. The could benefit from better lighting. The back of her neck prickled, and the sense she was not alone in the room. Her pulse fluttered unsteading at the clogging her throat.

le wave She cursed McDeaver again for filling her head with nonsense.

pack to Pushing back from the desk, Edwina stood, clutching the pen bef offeredlike a weapon.

e liked. "Hello?"

Moving silently toward the other side of the library, Edwina maybeway to the row of bookcases and peeked around the corner. Two bo couldn'tsprawled, spines up, on the floor. Lowering the pen and feeling like a She hadshe marched over and picked up both tomes. Sliding both books back lout atempty spot on the bookshelf, she took a deep breath, willing her p Edwinaslow.

"Nothing but thunder," she said out loud. "The vibrations from th late forshook the house, which in turn rattled the bookshelves, causing the b was anfall to the floor." A laugh came from her. "Nothing ghostly about it to thenext I see Mr. McDeaver, I shall have a word with him about filling r ntion totales of a crazed abbess haunting Rose Abbey. If I—"

ability The words stalled in her mouth as another thump sounded from the sing herside of the library. The bookcases there nearly reached the ceiling,

flush against the wall. She pushed her hands into her skirts to stop the ad triedtremble of her fingers, nearly dropping the pen. There was nothing an ina hadbooks on the floor. Nothing out of place.

hat she Feeling foolish and instructing her imagination to rein itself nethingmarched back to the center of the room, stopping before the portrain anyoneabbess.

ill been "I don't believe in you," Edwina whispered.

"Miss?"

aring at Edwina gasped, her hand coming to her throat before she turned a t of theMeg in the doorway.

Good Lord. She'd not even been here an entire day and already s

library,imagining things. She was not a woman who was easily startled. C fanciful. The house was old. The bookcases looked quite ancient. Slindows,lucky if they didn't suddenly burst apart and all come tumbling dow her while she worked.

library A large tray was held aloft in Meg's quivering hands. "I've broug she hadtea, Miss Collins." Her eyes darted to the portrait of the abbess before ly, fearback on Edwina, features stamped with fear. The tea tray trembled, clattering against the saucer.

"Hello, Meg." Waving her away from the desk, Edwina instead core herMeg to set down the tray on a low table next to an overstuffed settee.

place the tray there. It looks quite heavy." Laden with tea and assortment of sandwiches and pastries, the tray tilted as the maid strug ade herplace it on the table. Edwina's stomach grumbled. She hadn't thoug oks layPage would be so generous based on their initial introduction. "My go in idiot,I must appear to be incredibly hungry."

into the Meg took a shaky breath as she set down the tray, looking once usualse to the portrait of Lady Renalda. "Yes, Miss Collins." She bobbed. "Mr

said Lord Bascomb may join you so Cook made sure to include ex e stormwatercress or cucumber. His Lordship don't like a tea tray that ain't he ooks to So there was *also* a cook at Rose Abbey. Plus Mrs. Page and Meg . Whenfootman or possibly a butler. The housekeeper didn't look strong en ne withcarry Edwina's trunk upstairs herself.

"Hearty?" Edwina smiled at the maid, who was obviously uncomie otherat being in the library.

sitting "There's roast beef and ham." Meg nodded at the tray. "Roast bee e slightLordship's favorite."

iss. No "I'll be sure to concentrate on the ham," Edwina assured the maid.

Meg gave her a weak smile and exited the library by backing c in, sheeyes never leaving the portrait of Lady Renalda, as if the abbess woult of theout of the portrait and grab her.

Once she was alone again, Edwina's gaze went to the other side library, where the second thump had come from. She strolled along t of bookcases, taking note of the sheer volume of tomes and thei and sawcondition. If there was something out of place, Edwina couldn't tell.

*I'm being ridiculous.* 

she was Her stomach rumbled again, so Edwina went back to the tray and

Or evenherself a steaming cup of tea. She filled a plate, taking care to include he'd bebeef purely because it was sure to irritate Bascomb, and sat at the nuponEdwina sipped at her tea, ate two sandwiches, and felt better imme

She'd only been hungry. Tired. A cup of tea and something in her sht yourmade a world of difference.

e fixing Thus fortified, Edwina turned her attention once more to the s the cuppapers Bascomb had tasked her with organizing. A bill from the but

Portsmith. One for coal. Several recommendations on how best to re lirectednest of rodents from the attic. One pointed observation on how to 1 "Pleaseleaking portion of the roof in the west wing.

a vast That leak was undoubtedly dripping water at this moment. The geled tooutside showed no sign of abating and seemed worse than when Edw ht Mrs.first arrived.

odness, Organization must come first. She sorted the stack of papers in piles on the desk. A small portion were letters from Bascomb's acquai more atin London. One correspondence was from a farmer in Scotland who s. Pageto sell Bascomb some sheep. But there weren't any invitations for di tra. Noother social events. Given Rose Abbey's isolation, it was doubtful Barty." had much of a social life. Anything having to do with maintain . And ahousehold—foodstuffs, supplies, and the like—Edwina put to though to Correspondence of a more personal nature, she put in the middle.

repairs to the abbey were put to the right and constituted the larges fortable Apparently, Rose Abbey had been left in poor condition until Basco inherited it a little over a year ago. Nodding to herself, Edwina tool f is Hisneat piles, trying to decide where to begin. She dearly wished Fieldi left notes.

Perhaps he had.

out, her Edwina opened the drawer of the desk and poked around. More ld jumpTwo buttons from a man's waistcoat, possibly Fielding's. A paperweight, which she immediately put to good use. Finally, her e of the closed over a small, leather-bound book.

he wall Fielding *had* left notes. As had Worthington. Larkspur. And so r dustywith the unfortunate name of Merrywimple. She leafed through the noting the different handwriting and collections of dates. Notes ha made on finding stonemasons, roofers, and the like. And a priest.

poured *A priest?* 

le roast There was no indication from Merrywimple, who had made the n e desk.as to whether he'd found a priest or why he'd been looking for one.

diately. Glancing out at the spikes of gravestones, barely visible in the r tomachwhat little light remained of the day, Edwina could see some were ver

to the edge of the cliff. Perhaps Merrywimple had been arranging for tack of graves to be moved and wanted a priest involved for religious reason to the remainder of his notes. Merrywimple had be move afirst of Bascomb's secretaries, lasting a total of two months before resintenant a Two months.

What would have made Merrywimple leave his position after such stormtime? The isolation? Flipping through the pages, Edwina found Figure ina hadnotes. His observations ran along mostly the same lines as the

Bascomb had employed. But Fielding had fled after only a few weel to neatnotation jumped out at her.

ntances Have portrait of Lady Renalda relocated to another part of Rose A wantedcan't stand for her to look at me a moment longer.

nner or Edwina glanced up from the desk to the abbess. Lady Renalda *was* ascombterrifying for a dead woman. And given the way she had perished ing therumors surrounding the abbey, Edwina could well understand why F ne left.wouldn't want to share the library with her. Edwina doubted she was t Relatednew arrival to Rose Abbey who had had to endure McDeaver's gr t stack.tales. But Lady Renalda's stern gaze still looked out over the library. I mb hadhadn't won that argument with Bascomb.

ς in the The next entry was very curious indeed.

ing had Ask Lord B about door in library.

Edwina's gaze settled on the two double doors leading into the There was nothing unusual. Carved wood. Brass knobs. The hinges string.even squeak. Nothing appeared to be in need of repair. She frown brassturned back to the notes Fielding had made.

fingers "Well, Collins. I see you aren't cowering in your room yet."

Edwina snapped shut Fielding's notes and shoved the small book omeonethe desk. "Not as of yet, my lord." She faced him. "But it is still pages, There's time."

d been Bascomb gave her a stern look and walked into the library, imme making the entire room smaller. His larger form dominated the space the library with the scents of bergamot and something clean and und

otation,masculine. Edwina hadn't been wrong. Bascomb was quite tall. Big. massive, gnarled oak tree. The leather breeches he wore stretched tau ain andhis thighs, showing Edwina the carved lines of muscle beneath. They closelengths of leg ended in immense, booted feet, which trod heavily or those direction.

as? She Awareness trailed up Edwina's spine. Bascomb's effect on her een thedimmed in the least since their initial meeting. The chill was immegning, banished from the library. If anything, Edwina felt overwarm.

Bascomb's gaze slid first to Edwina, then down at the tea tray. 'a shortdone of Cook." One large paw reached out, snatching up two sand elding's "Hearty."

others Edwina watched the movement of his mouth as he ate, the botks. Onethroat as he swallowed. She had never found a man devouring a bit beef to be quite so intriguing.

*Abbey. I* Dear God, what was wrong with her? "Is something amiss, Collins?"

eniablymother had once been the housekeeper here.

"Not in the least, my lord. I wanted to ask, What is the size of yo and theat Rose Abbey? I didn't realize you had a cook—"

"How do you think I eat?" He frowned. "Mrs. Oates. Lovely wom he onlyyou think it was Page who did the cooking? She can't boil an egg."

"I'm curious why you have a housekeeper with only a cook, a maic "ielding "And Thomas. Good lad. Lifts things. Like your trunk. Helps n repairs and such. Mr. Oates, husband to my cook, takes care of the They reside in a cottage a short walk from here." He raised a brow. "Is point to this discussion, Collins?"

e room. "Not at all." Edwina kept her expression polite. "I was only tr didn'tascertain who was in your employ."

ied and "Mrs. Page came with Rose Abbey, if you must know. She vuncle's housekeeper. Perhaps something more," he said offhand. "I'v been clear on their relationship. Her mother served as housekeeper as back inanother Lord Bascomb. My uncle's grandfather, I believe. Very complearly family tree. At any rate, Mrs. Page deals with all the little details I do about, such as whether there's enough beeswax or clean linens. If ediatelylooking at the household accounts, she is the person who knows best.", filling "Understandable." Mrs. Page had likely grown up at Rose Abbey

Like a "I see you've met Lady Renalda." Bascomb nodded at the portrat acrosswas the last abbess to preside here. This was once her house, or at le ne longof it was. The library was her office."

in her "Mrs. Page told me as much. She said it was your family who m renovations after being gifted the estate."

hadn't "'Gifted' is a bit of a stretch." His eyes were on Lady Renald ediatelyancestor performed a sordid service for the Crown. Rose Abbey v reward. Did McDeaver leave that part out, Collins?"

"Nicely Thunder boomed again.

wiches. A shiver dusted Edwina's skin. "The nuns were not treated kindly."

"No." Bascomb had a pained look on his face. "I find it shar

of hisrelation of mine, no matter how far in the past, had a part in the must roastinnocents. My ancestor had been promised a title and an estate"—he his arm around the room—"but first he had to evict an order of nu secure the wealth of Rose Abbey."

"What sort of wealth?" McDeaver had been vague on the details.

ur staff "Relics of a religious nature, I'd expect. Gold chalices. Silver embedded with jewels. That sort of thing. There's no actual record an. Didwealth, but since Rose Abbey had never been raided as so many monasteries and convents had, the assumption was made that there l—" trove of gold plate and the like to be found here. However, when the se withand my ancestor arrived"—he gave her a sideways glance—"they stables.nothing but a determined abbess and her devoted flock."

there a "McDeaver claims Lady Renalda was overly prideful. That she ref surrender to anyone but God. That their blood is on her hands. He m ying tosound very greedy."

Bascomb shrugged his massive shoulders, drawing Edwina's attervas mythe pull of the fine lawn along his arms. "My ancestor confronte e neverRenalda here, in this very room, while his soldiers scoured the gwell, toDemanded she give over the abbey's wealth. She laughed in his fablicatedordered the abbey and church set afire, hoping to force Lady Renn't carerelent. Ordered his soldiers to kill anyone they came across."

you're Edwina imagined how frightening it all must have been. "Lady I should have just surrendered."

y if her "She didn't. Instead she kept my ancestor in this room with her, r to budge on her position, while everything behind her burned. Lady I

it. "Shebrandished a sword and was cut down," he said in a quiet voice. "But ast partthink she was mad, Collins. Or prideful. Or any of the other things Mc probably made her out to be. Her death, her sacrifice, was a diversit ade thewas buying time for the others." He looked up at Lady Renalc something very much like admiration.

a. "My "The others?"

was his "Rose Abbey was once a small village on its own. Nearly thirty novices, along with a small group of orphans, resided here. Possibly He turned back to her. "I've looked at the archives. Only five nur executed with Lady Renalda. Five. No one else. Certainly no men neful aorphaned children being slaughtered. I think it makes sense to assuurder ofshe gave orders for everyone else to escape while she kept that fir wavedBascomb and the soldiers occupied. I'm sure those innocents were lor ins andbefore the torch was put to the abbey."

"Where did they go?" Edwina's brow wrinkled. "There is only o in and out of Rose Abbey. The road leading to Portsmith. Surely the crosseswould have blocked it."

of such Bascomb shrugged. "A mystery. The records show that the soldier y otherno gold. No treasure. Not so much as a silver cross. The first Lord Be was asearched for weeks and enlisted half the village to look. Eventually, soldierspossession of Rose Abbey and began adding to the home of the abbess found "I find it a bit morbid that he wanted to keep the room she was min and merely build around it."

hused to Bascomb nodded. "Odd. Especially since he allowed the rest to go ade herBut I think the horror of what he'd done never left him. He even keep portrait of Lady Renalda. Claimed to see her and the other nuns vation to about the grounds. Rambled away like a madman."

d Lady Edwina looked up once more at the abbess. McDeaver had painte rounds. Renalda in a very unflattering light, but Edwina supposed it was more ace. Hetell stories of a wrathful abbess than talk about this year's crop of alda towhen a stranger visited Portsmith. A ghost story was much more at "The villagers in Portsmith insist Rose Abbey is haunted."

Renalda "Oh, it is." Bascomb grabbed another sandwich and strolled to the "Have a good evening, Collins."

efusing Renalda I don't Deaver on. She la with

uns and more." is were ition of me that st Lord ig gone

ne way soldiers

s found ascomb he took ..." urdered

to rot. cept the walking

ed Lady e fun to f wheat nusing.

doors.

## CHAPTER THREE

 $E_{\text{DWINA FINISHED BRAIDING}}$  the length of her hair, stretching out her not shoulders. She'd worked through the remainder of the afternoon and early evening, starting with the largest pile of Bascomb's papers. The is and correspondence pertaining to the restoration of the estate seen most urgent. Opening a ledger, she'd thought to start matching receip entries but stopped after seeing the mistakes sprinkled throughout the numbers. Edwina was far too exhausted to begin what she could see glance would be quite a project.

The intensity of the storm outside hadn't abated a bit. Rain still las windows with fury. She thought of Lady Renalda and the horrible eve had taken place at Rose Abbey so long ago. Bascomb's version of w transpired here was likely closer to the truth than the tale spun by Mcl It pained Edwina to know that Lady Renalda, in addition to wha suffered in life, must also have the indignity of her good name besmir death.

Edwina sighed and looked out over the darkness cloaking the esta supposed it didn't matter what the truth was any longer. Everyone w been involved was long dead. Despite Bascomb's parting words that Abbey was haunted, Edwina didn't believe in ghosts.

The wind continued to howl and snake around the house, trying to space between the stones. Thankfully, Edwina's room seemed well in against the storm. The stone walls had to be a foot thick. The quarte Page had directed her to were comfortable, if not large. The bed had mattress, as fine as anything that had once graced her parents' complete with a canopy and bed-curtains. Fine fabrics, even if the st out of date. A fire roared away in the hearth, spreading a comfortabl across the room. Soap, towels, and a pitcher of warm water awaited h hadn't been hungry after the enormous tray of food served her earlier a instead opted for a pot of chamomile tea when Meg had knocked softl

door.

Lying back in the bed, Edwina left the curtains open a fraction to a the heat from the fire. Her fingers curled around the edges of the cov she stared at the canopy above her head. Exhaustion settled in her borshe was unable to fall asleep. Again, she considered the consequences somewhat rash decision to accept the position with Bascomb, though eck and time, Edwina had thought it the best choice.

into the Since her father's death, Edwina had been stuck in a continuous of receipts survival. Her family's descent into poverty had been slow. Excruned the Painful. Brought on by a combination of poor investments made by he ots with—which he'd tried to hide from her—and constant overspend rows of Edwina's frivolous mother. Father had refused to beg for charity from the first relation, the Earl of Southwell, instead insisting that things would around."

hed the They never had.

nts that had The farmer from whom they'd purchased their eggs. She'd chopped w Deaver. their fire. Decided the price of sugar was so dear that they would drip to she'd tea without. Let go of their maid. Cook. The embarrassment of her forched in decline was such that Edwina kept the worst of the situation from her

the Earl of Southwell, as well as other members of their far-flung ite. She Edwina was mortified. Especially after her broken betrothal. When the had finally been forced to sell the family home, Edwina had taken what Rose she'd had left and arrived at Southwell's estate, the advertisement

Bascomb clutched in one hand. Edwina had begged Southwell to write a find arecommendation, explaining she wanted to make her own way in the isulated She was too ashamed to confess the true state of her affairs.

rs Mrs. Southwell, she'd pleaded, need only help her with this small thing. Southwell had written the recommendation, against his better juc home, He'd told Edwina she could work for him, if she were so determined yle was secretary, but Edwina had refused.

le glow Now, listening to the wind howl outside, Edwina thought perhater. She would have been better off cataloging Southwell's collection of stone and had pottery, and terrifying masks.

y at the He had quite a lot of those.

But Edwina hadn't wanted charity. Marriage certainly was no lo

option. Suitors did not bang on the door of Miss Edwina Collin Illow inspinster. She wasn't even a maid anymore thanks to her mildly sarerlet asaffair with the barrister whose offer of marriage she'd accepted. Of nes, yetthat was before the Honorable Jacob Duster had realized he would be s of hernothing but Edwina and had withdrawn his offer.

at the Hands clenched, she thumped the mattress.

His abandonment still smarted. She'd been wildly attracted to cycle of Experienced a decent amount of pleasure in his arms, which had bod ciating for their marriage. Edwina thought Duster cared for her. That there we refather affection between them. Yet when he'd realized the circumstances ing by Collins family, Duster had broken off their relationship by sending a com his Edwina's father.

d "turn Hadn't even had the decency to inform Edwina himself.

"So now I'm here. Trapped at Rose Abbey with a—man I should the least attractive. And one with whom I should retain a profesmaker.relationship and nothing more." Bascomb made every nerve in Ear ood forbody stand at attention with those unusual eyes and striking lool ak theirattraction between them had crackled in the air when Bascomb had amily'sher earlier in the library. Her pulse skipped at the thought of him to cousin,her.

family. *Damn it.* 

n she'd Frowning, she plumped her pillow, pulled the blankets up to her chut coinsfirmly shut her eyes. She was here to be Bascomb's secretary. Nothing

it from

te her a

world.

lgment.

to be a

aps she tablets,

nger an

option. Suitors did not bang on the door of Miss Edwina Collins, poor spinster. She wasn't even a maid anymore thanks to her mildly satisfying affair with the barrister whose offer of marriage she'd accepted. Of course, that was before the Honorable Jacob Duster had realized he would be getting nothing but Edwina and had withdrawn his offer.

Hands clenched, she thumped the mattress.

His abandonment still smarted. She'd been wildly attracted to Duster. Experienced a decent amount of pleasure in his arms, which had boded well for their marriage. Edwina thought Duster cared for her. That there was true affection between them. Yet when he'd realized the circumstances of the Collins family, Duster had broken off their relationship by sending a note to Edwina's father.

Hadn't even had the decency to inform Edwina himself.

"So now I'm here. Trapped at Rose Abbey with a—man I shouldn't find the least attractive. And one with whom I should retain a professional relationship and nothing more." Bascomb made every nerve in Edwina's body stand at attention with those unusual eyes and striking looks. The attraction between them had crackled in the air when Bascomb had visited her earlier in the library. Her pulse skipped at the thought of him touching her.

Damn it.

Frowning, she plumped her pillow, pulled the blankets up to her chin, and firmly shut her eyes. She was here to be Bascomb's secretary. Nothing more.

# CHAPTER FOUR

 $E_{\text{DWINA}}$  woke slowly, keeping her eyes closed. Wind still threw rain the windows. The sound of waves crashing against the cliffs was a roar. The fire, now little more than banked embers, popped and hissed.

Something was dragging along the floor of her room. Like a wet n out of the bucket. Or thick, soaked skirts slapping against flesh.

She was not alone.

The air in Edwina's chest froze. Her lungs refused to work pillind terror, the sort made of nightmares and darkness, shot throubody. Edwina couldn't move even if she wanted to. It was all she coul resist the scream clawing up her throat.

Keep breathing, Edwina. Pretend to be asleep.

The bed-curtains fluttered, the sound reaching her terrified ears. I air brushed over the curve of her shoulder and teased at her ha struggled to keep her breathing even as the sensation of someone over her pressed against her skin.

I am going to scream my bloody head off.

Just as quickly, the heaviness eased, followed by the sensation of stroking the back of her head, as Edwina's mother used to do. The c fear abated, supplanted by a sense of peace and comfort. She drew is breath and opened her eyes, unsurprised to find herself completely alc bed-curtains undisturbed.

Edwina sat up, pulling aside the edge of the velvet curtain to sur room. Nothing whatsoever stirred. There wasn't even a draft frowindows. The air in the room was cool but not the icy blast she'd fel her shoulder.

Forcing herself out of the bed, Edwina checked to see that her do still locked. She made the daring move of looking beneath the bed as when she was a child. To search for monsters.

Nothing.

Edwina drew in a shaky breath. "I was dreaming. A nightmare. I more," she said out loud to the stillness of the room. Again, she McDeaver and his macabre stories. Turning back to the warmth of t Edwina halted. Roses. The scent permeated the entire room, as if so had filled a dozen vases with nothing but the bloodred blooms that spall over the grounds of Rose Abbey.

against "I don't believe in ghosts," she chanted to herself. "A bad dream, distant more." Edwina looked around the room. One small crimson rose petal the table next to her empty teacup.

nop just Edwina clasped her trembling hands together. Meg must hav arranging flowers. A petal dropped on the tray before she brought the Edwina. She only hadn't noticed the petal earlier.

roperly. Cautiously, still scanning her room, Edwina crawled back in 1gh her pulling the covers up to her chin. She thought of the portrait of the 1d do to And the spray of bloodred roses lying in her lap.

It was a very long time before Edwina fell asleep once more.

ce-cold ir. She leaning

fingers
choking
n a soft
one, the

vey the om the lt along

or was

Edwina drew in a shaky breath. "I was dreaming. A nightmare. Nothing more," she said out loud to the stillness of the room. Again, she cursed McDeaver and his macabre stories. Turning back to the warmth of the bed, Edwina halted. Roses. The scent permeated the entire room, as if someone had filled a dozen vases with nothing but the bloodred blooms that sprawled all over the grounds of Rose Abbey.

"I don't believe in ghosts," she chanted to herself. "A bad dream, nothing more." Edwina looked around the room. One small crimson rose petal lay on the table next to her empty teacup.

Edwina clasped her trembling hands together. Meg must have been arranging flowers. A petal dropped on the tray before she brought the tea to Edwina. She only hadn't noticed the petal earlier.

Cautiously, still scanning her room, Edwina crawled back into bed, pulling the covers up to her chin. She thought of the portrait of the abbess. And the spray of bloodred roses lying in her lap.

It was a very long time before Edwina fell asleep once more.

### **CHAPTER FIVE**

"Ah, there you are, Collins," Lord Bascomb, with a piece of ham d from his raised fork, greeted her as she entered the breakfast rofollowing morning. "Wondered when you would make an appearance."

"Good morning, my lord," Edwina answered, taking a seat.

Meg had knocked on her door earlier, informing Edwina the Bascomb had requested her presence in the breakfast room. Sl somewhat surprised to find that her employer expected them to eat to but Bascomb didn't seem the sort to stand on ceremony. There was no to at Rose Abbey, she supposed. Or possibly he didn't wish to eat alon

Atop the sideboard sat an enormous amount of food that Bascoml two empty plates before him were any indication, was intent on devou on his own. The thick mass of inky hair brushed against the breadth shoulders as he ate, the ends curling into his collar. No cravat or co more. And he was in dire need of a closer shave.

There had been no mention of a valet earlier when he'd listed the Rose Abbey, and from Bascomb's rough appearance, it was clear he have one.

How odd. He is a titled lord. A gentleman.

Edwina narrowed her eyes. Titled he may be, but Bascomb gentleman, not with his apparent dislike of cravats and manners.

A tiny shiver trailed down her spine. It was not unpleasant.

"I expected you down earlier, Collins." His eyes, more gray than  $\xi$  the morning light, peered back at her. "Did the storm keep you awa perhaps—" He hesitated. "—it was something else?"

If Bascomb thought she would admit to an imaginary hand strok hair and filling her room with the scent of roses, he was sorely mi "Exhaustion, my lord. I do apologize. The journey to Rose Abblengthy. I merely overslept."

"That was Fielding's room. And Worthington's." He tapped his

"Come to think of it, I believe Mrs. Page has put each of my secretarie Easier, I suppose, to keep one room at the ready." He leaned forward s the collar of his shirt gaping open to show a delectable slice of ma "You do look refreshed, Collins."

It was difficult to concentrate when Bascomb was so distracting least, *parts* of him were distracting. She caught the smells of bergan anglingsoap in the air around him, which made her skin tingle once more. "I om the lord."

Edwina placed a piece of toast on her plate.

"You'll faint well before tea if that's all you're going to eat." Be Lordstole a glance out the window, sighing in resignation. "And I suppose he was will be here for tea. Can't send you back to Hampshire today as I sugether, Collins." A tiny smirk lifted his lips. "The storm hasn't stopped. But reason as the rain abates and the roads are clear, off you go."

e. "Of course, my lord." Edwina sipped her tea, savoring the burn b, if the her tongue. "I would expect as much."

ring all Bascomb tore into another piece of ham. "Is that sarcasm, Collins?

"Not at all, my lord, merely agreement." She nibbled at her toast.

at once His gazed lowered, focusing solely on her mouth.

Edwina had trouble swallowing and told herself it was the dry test staff of her breakfast. She dribbled some honey over the top of the toast. As seed idn't another bite, a bit of honey slid across her lips, and she caught the dreat her tongue.

Bascomb made a feral noise. His eyes full of heat and the proleus  $_{\text{was}}$  nowicked things raised to hers.

The attraction between them, so immediate and unexpected, threat combust, right here in the small breakfast room. A vision of Ba green in pressing Edwina down atop the breakfast table and lifting her skirts, lke? Or vivid she nearly dropped her toast.

Mrs. Page bustled in without knocking, and Edwina hastily dropling her eyes to her plate, pulse racing. For the first time since coming to Rose istaken. Edwina actually welcomed the woman's presence.

ey was "My lord," the housekeeper announced, "the leak in the east w grown exponentially larger according to Thomas. I believe several tilefinger. flown off the roof, threatening the guest room at the end of the thirefinger. Your attention is required." A tiny nod of her chin was the

s there.acknowledgment of Edwina's presence.

lightly, "Very well, Mrs. Page, though I've yet to finish breakfast."

le skin. Mrs. Page glanced at Bascomb's empty plates with a dubious look.

"Tell Thomas to grab the necessary tools, and I'll be along in a most. Or atHe dismissed her with a wave. "I won't have time at present, Col not andreview your work. I will have to trust it is acceptable."

am, my "I've sorted through a great deal of your correspondence and will the ledgers today," Edwina replied.

"So soon?" Bascomb's face held a look of surprise. "It took I ascombnearly a week to sort through everything."

ose you "Perhaps Fielding wasn't proficient at balancing estate ledş wished, household accounts. I am." Edwina patted her lips with a napkin.

as soon Mrs. Page smoothed her skirts, eyeing Edwina with one brow radisbelief.

against Well, Edwina didn't give a fig for the housekeeper's opinion.

"Is there anything else, Mrs. Page?" Bascomb muttered. "Or do yo to stand there and watch me eat the remainder of my breakfast?"

Mrs. Page's face tightened at the rebuke from her employer.

wished to inform Miss Collins that I've already had the fire lit in the cture of should she wish to begin her work directly after breakfast. I'll hav he tookbrought later."

op with Bascomb rolled his eyes. "Don't coddle Collins." His eyes swe Edwina. "She doesn't require it. And make sure the contents of the mise of are *hearty*, Mrs. Page. None of those silly little iced biscuits Mrs. Oat

to make. Collins will waste away eating nothing but bits of toast. It's ened toenough to keep a mouse alive."

scomb, "Of course, my lord." Mrs. Page bobbed politely and finally was soroom, closing the door behind her.

"I'm not overly fond of breakfast, my lord," Edwina said, fin ped hernecessary to explain why she wasn't tucking into the ham and  $\epsilon$  Abbey,Bascomb did.

"Neither am I." He sopped up a bit of egg with his toast.

ing has "Yes," she replied smoothly. "It becomes more apparent by the mo es have Bascomb grunted in annoyance, though amusement lit his grand floor.eyes. "You're not endearing yourself to me, Collins. Certainly you e onlymade friends with Mrs. Page. Not entirely your fault, Collins. She

liked any of my secretaries. Detested Merryfort."

"Merrywimple." Edwina corrected.

"My mistake." Bascomb was stunning when he smiled, as he wa oment."now. A soft, buttery glow spread across her midsection. The aware lins, tohim returned, fiercer than before the appearance of Mrs. Page.

"Didn't like Fielding either. Tolerated Worthless."

start on "Worthington, my lord." Edwina bit her lip to keep from gi Bascomb was trying to make her lose her composure. "You're botchin ieldingnames on purpose, I think. I'm curious, my lord. Why didn't Mrs. Pa your previous secretaries?"

gers or "Mrs. Page doesn't like anyone, including me, Collins. Surely noticed. Tolerating is not liking. One of the stipulations of the inherit lised inRose Abbey was her continued employment as housekeeper indefir can't dismiss her. My uncle made sure of it. As previously mentioned voiced lowered as if they were conspirators—"I believe Mrs. Page a but wishuncle were...quite close. If you take my meaning."

Bascomb was terrible to suggest such a thing. But likely cor "I onlyexplained a great deal about the housekeeper's proprietary attitude at libraryestate. "I do, my lord."

re a tea "As to the ledgers, Fielding was terrible. Complained nonstop missing bills of sale, incorrect notations, and the like. Constantly b pt overMrs. Page for receipts. Pestered her with questions on what purchastea traybeen made for the household. I'm sure she was relieved when Fieldi es likesdown the hill, never to return."

barely Edwina thought carefully about her next words. "Did you revi accounts yourself, my lord, and find irregularities?"

left the Bascomb rubbed at the spot where the scar sprouted from his left e one large finger. "When I have time." His tone was defensive. "Widing itrare."

eggs as She nodded in polite understanding. Bascomb wasn't looking at l accounts; that much was clear.

"I rarely have time, Collins," he snapped at her. "Which is why I ment." secretary. A competent one. But I suppose you'll do for the moment." y-green Edwina didn't flinch from his anger, knowing that it wasn't truly chaven'tat her but himself. The scar told her Bascomb had suffered a head in hasn't some sort, possibly one bad enough that it affected his ability to respect to the state of the

ledgers or, at the very least, be able to discern any inaccuracies. "Yo my lord. May I ask how you came to have it?"

s doing His lips twisted, the man no doubt about to snap at her once morness ofgreat sigh escaped his lips instead. Blunt fingers tossed down the "You may. It is no great secret. Scything incident."

"Scything?" Edwina had suspected a duel with swords possibly crinning.from his horse.

ng their "Yes. Scything." One long arm made a sweeping motion across the nge like "Come now, Collins, surely you understand the point. The cutting of

A tradition for the sons of my family to cut the first shaft of wheat you'veharvest. My older brother managed to do so without injuring himse ance ofmy younger. I, however, was not so lucky." The broad shoulders sh litely. I"A rat the size of a bloody goat ran over my foot. I must have jumped d"—hisa foot into the air, stumbled over a rock—which should not have been and myfield to begin with—and fell. So did the blade. Nearly lost the eye.

flayed open. Blood everywhere. My mother screaming her hea rect. ItBascomb shook his head. "Not my finest day."

oout the "A rat the size of a goat? My goodness, I hadn't realized a roden grow to such a size. You're fortunate you weren't trampled as well it about the case."

othered "No sympathy, Collins? I expected a tiny bit."

ses had Edwina sincerely doubted that. Bascomb didn't strike her as the ng fledman who would welcome pity because of his injury.

"You have a quick wit, Collins. Fielding did not. Nor Worthless."

ew the "Worthington," she corrected, wondering why she bothered. "A partial my favor, I suppose."

ye with "You also didn't run screaming out of the house last night," Barhich issaid with grudging approval. "Another mark of your brief success a Abbey thus far."

uis own "It was raining." A small pebble of unease formed as she though dream she'd had last night. The sensation of having her hair stroke need aEdwina was a child in need of comfort. The scent of roses in the a

hadn't imagined any of it. Or had a nightmare. Truthfully, Rose lirectedunnerved Edwina as it doubtless had every other secretary. Fieldi jury of instance. The house and its inhabitants weren't exactly warm and welc ead the "When you're done with the ledgers, Collins, the library should be

ur scar, "The library?" Edwina wanted to ask more about Bascomb's injit the lack of attention to the ledgers but decided he'd changed the toe, but apurpose. "What is there to be done to the library?"

napkin. "Cataloging, Collins. The attic is filled with crates, all containing thave no idea which relation of mine sent them to Rose Abbey or whom a fallof them have probably turned to dust, which should save you some Bascomb stood, looming over Edwina, large and male. Smelling of be

e table.and soap. Her gaze traveled over the line of his throat and the hard lin wheat.jaw.

for the "I do hope"—Edwina quickly looked away, instructing her pulse t lf. And—"that I'll be able to complete both tasks before you send me l rugged.Hampshire tomorrow, my lord."

I nearly His tall form bent, leaning so close Edwina could have sworn she n in thebrush of lips against the curve of her ear. A delicious, decadent se Cheekcoursed down her spine, all thoughts of the ledgers and her nig d off."forgotten. How could she have formed such a strong attachment to quickly? Every nerve in her body was standing on end.

"Then you should get started, Collins." The husky words scraped f that isher skin, and it was far too early to be aroused while eating toast. "As as possible."

sort of

point in

ascomb

at Rose

t of the

d, as if

ir. She

Abbey

ng, for

oming.

next."

"The library?" Edwina wanted to ask more about Bascomb's injury and the lack of attention to the ledgers but decided he'd changed the topic on purpose. "What is there to be done to the library?"

"Cataloging, Collins. The attic is filled with crates, all containing books. I have no idea which relation of mine sent them to Rose Abbey or why. Most of them have probably turned to dust, which should save you some time." Bascomb stood, looming over Edwina, large and male. Smelling of bergamot and soap. Her gaze traveled over the line of his throat and the hard line of his jaw.

"I do hope"—Edwina quickly looked away, instructing her pulse to settle —"that I'll be able to complete both tasks before you send me back to Hampshire tomorrow, my lord."

His tall form bent, leaning so close Edwina could have sworn she felt the brush of lips against the curve of her ear. A delicious, decadent sensation coursed down her spine, all thoughts of the ledgers and her nightmare forgotten. How could she have formed such a strong attachment to him so quickly? Every nerve in her body was standing on end.

"Then you should get started, Collins." The husky words scraped against her skin, and it was far too early to be aroused while eating toast. "As quickly as possible."

### **CHAPTER SIX**

 $E_{\rm DWINA\ LIFTED\ HER}$  head from the ledgers she'd spent the better par day poring over, stretching her neck until the bones made a satisfyile. The rain continued to beat against the walls of Rose Abbey in a contribution. Even if the weather let up this instant, the roads would muddy and unsuitable for travel for several days. Enough time, hoped, to convince Bascomb to keep her on. She certainly couldn't worse a job than any of the previous secretaries he'd hired. The ledge a mess. Small mistakes abounded. So many secretaries had touch ledgers that almost none of the handwriting matched, making it diff discern where the errors originated. Or who had made them.

Edwina found the last bit far more interesting.

Extensive repairs were being done at Rose Abbey, a process the started with the current Lord Bascomb's uncle. Oddly enough, it was older part of the house that required the attention, but the wing onto each successive Lord Bascomb had added.

Ironic. Lady Renalda's residence still stood, while her conqueror's a constant state of repair.

Edwina resettled herself at the desk, nibbling on a bit of apple and Meg had brought a short time ago. There had been at least three d stonemasons who'd made repairs to Rose Abbey. Opening the ledg paged back to Merrywimple's notes, which had first made mention work.

The thud of a book echoed in the silence of the library.

Edwina's head jerked up, her gaze immediately settling on a data corner by the window, the same spot where she'd found the fallen yesterday. The noise was likely the result of an uneven shelf. The outside had started up again, shaking the house. It was no stretch to the vibrations would knock a book off the shelf.

Ignoring the interruption, Edwina bent her head once more to the

hand. She picked up the bill from the first stonemason, a man named and looked back at the ledger.

The amount noted was larger than the payment requested by Jeffe by a great deal. Barely noticeable. Obviously an oversight.

Another book dropped.

Edwina didn't look up. She would mention to Bascomb the I t of thereinforce the shelves on that particular bookcase.

ng pop. A leather tome flew across the room, hitting the pot of tea on th tinuous knocking everything to the floor.

remain Edwina jolted from her seat as tea stained the rug. She picked up th Edwina she'd been using to peel the apple. A poor weapon only marginally do anythan the pen. Ghosts, as far as she knew, did not throw books with incre were accuracy.

ned the The house was deadly silent around her. Then she heard it. A icult to whisper as if someone or something moved between the bookcases.

She wasn't alone in the library.

"I don't find this the least amusing. Show yourself." Heart racing, hat had marched over to the corner, knife raised, and stepped around the box sn't the Lightning zigzagged outside, bathing the ruins of the abbey and the which corner of the library in a streak of white light.

The room was empty. Silent. Except for the sound of her own was in breathing.

Get ahold of yourself Edwina.

cheese A loud creak echoed in the silence. She turned in time to see a ifferent wall of books tumbling toward her. A hand shoved hard against Edger, she back. The bookcase crashed to the floor, only managing to catch the of the edge of her shoulder instead of landing on top of her. Wincing at the pain in her shoulder, she had the presence of mind to squeeze herse against the windows as the bookcase fell to the floor, dust rising into the

Edwina pressed herself as tightly as she could against the winder books knife clasped to her chest, startled with the shock of nearly being thunder under the weight of hundreds of books. Hand trembling, weapon hel assume she darted her gaze about, searching for any movement in the library.

The tang of roses filled the air, pushing away the smells of mold ar task at Her gaze jerked to the portrait of Lady Renalda, calmly watchin above the fireplace. Pushing away from the window, Edwina carefull

Jeffers,her way to the desk, dropping the knife with a small clatter. The ove teapot on the floor lay on its side, the tea having made a large stain ers. Notrug.

"A fresh pot of tea is definitely in order," she said out loud. "Or bracked Straightening, Edwina commanded her feet to move in the direct need to the door. Bascomb must have brandy in his study. Or something bracing. Surely he wouldn't begrudge her, not after having nearly been e desk, Her hand went to her midsection.

Once the shock wore off, she would find Mrs. Page and info ne knifehousekeeper there had been an accident in the library.

y better credible

heavy

Edwina okshelf. is dark

ragged

n entire dwina's ne very e sharp lf flush ne air. ow, the crushed

nd dust.

Ig from

y made

d aloft,

her way to the desk, dropping the knife with a small clatter. The overturned teapot on the floor lay on its side, the tea having made a large stain on the rug.

"A fresh pot of tea is definitely in order," she said out loud. "Or brandy."

Straightening, Edwina commanded her feet to move in the direction of the door. Bascomb must have brandy in his study. Or something equally bracing. Surely he wouldn't begrudge her, not after having nearly been killed.

Her hand went to her midsection.

Once the shock wore off, she would find Mrs. Page and inform the housekeeper there had been an accident in the library.

# CHAPTER SEVEN

" $W_{\text{HAT DO YOU}}$  mean, Collins, the bookcase just fell over?" Bascor her a look. "It's bolted into the wall."

Edwina sat in the overstuffed settee and sipped at her brandy-lace. She'd poured part of the bottle straight into the teapot, and now that Bowas in the library, she hoped he wouldn't ask for a cup. The branthankfully calmed her nerves. Somewhat. At least she wasn't treanymore. Looking down at the damask-upholstered settee, Edwina of she really detested the pattern.

"Collins." Bascomb snapped his fingers at her.

"Bolted or not, the bookcase fell. Nearly on top of me. Perhaps the is uneven or the age of the wood caused one of the shelves to simple apart. The wood does look rather ancient." It was none of those the Edwina well knew. The bookcase had fallen with the intent to crush she hadn't moved to the side at the last minute—

But I didn't. I was pushed out of the way. And the smell of roses he everywhere, mixing with those of dust and leather.

Edwina looked up from her tea to regard the portrait of Lady Rena the roses the abbess held in her lap. "Who planted all the rosebushes Abbey?"

"What?" Bascomb was examining the wall and the bookcase.

"The roses. Who planted them?"

"The nuns, I suppose." He frowned. "The bolts must have come The wood of the bookcase isn't splintered. Strange, it looks like there be four bolts attaching the bookcase, but two are missing and the oth pulled free."

Edwina raised her head. "Bolts?"

"The end was bolted to the wall here." His hand trailed down the "Possibly the vibration from the thunder loosened them, but—" He sh head and came over to Edwina, the cushions of the settee dipping

larger form settled next to her. Bascomb was far too close than was pr necessary, a muscled thigh nearly touching her skirts.

Edwina had the inclination to lean into him, which would not do.

"Are you hurt, Collins?" There was genuine concern wri Bascomb's sharply hewn features, softening the edges of the scar and him far more attractive than Edwina wished him to be. One binb shotstretched out across the hideous damask of the settee, the tip of his for running along the edge of her skirts.

red tea. "No, my lord." Edwina, heat flooding her cheeks, had to look awa ascomb the sight of that big, blunt finger. She wanted him to touch her.

Oh, Edwina. You've had too much brandy.

"I was only a bit shaken," she assured him, deciding not to ment decided pain in her shoulder or the fact that something had pushed her out of the

"I'm sure availing yourself of my best brandy has helped."

"It was for medicinal purposes." She paused, wondering if she ne floor mention the book that had flown across the room and knocked o y come teapot, but she decided against it. Bascomb might think her addled, or ings as assume she was foxed.

her. If *I very nearly am*.

She took another sip of her tea, allowing the taste to settle on her ad been before continuing. "I heard a thud near the bookcase and went to inve There was a crack of thunder along with a great deal of lightning. Th lda and creaked as it fell over. I—I thought I heard someone walking arou at Rose small chuckle escaped her. "Perhaps a joke was being played on me."

"A very poor one." Bascomb's eyes fairly glowed in the dim ligh library. They really were quite extraordinary. Looking at them was like oneself in the depths of a forest during a storm.

"You look a bit dazed, Collins. Are you sure you didn't hit your he should "It's only that you possess the loveliest eyes. Such an unusual ers just Edwina winced. She sounded like a young girl mooning over her fire The brandy was to blame.

Bascomb shook his head and took the tea out of her hands, sniffer stone. dark brew, and set it aside. "No more of that. I've no desire to callook his upstairs to bed."

Edwina's entire body pulsed in response.

He stilled, possibly realizing the undercurrent in his words, but he

oper ortry to apologize or rephrase his statement. Instead, his eyes darken deep, mossy green.

She clasped her hands in her lap, looking down at her fingers, tr tten instop the arousal from sliding up her legs. Impossible with Bascomb s makingand the brandy muddling her brain.

g hand "Fielding hated the library." His words helped banish the tension be refingerthem. "He wanted me to take down her portrait." Bascomb nodded t

Renalda. "I refused. Didn't seem right. This was her office, after all, ay fromone of my ancestors made the room a library."

"Mrs. Page informed me. You admire the abbess," Edwina said "You don't think she's a vengeful spirit."

ion the "Fielding"—Bascomb ignored her observation—"heard things as ie way. book flew through the air and hit him in the head. He said ther footsteps shuffling behind him while he worked. I told him it was on shouldcrawling about in the spaces in the walls."

ver the The walls of this part of Rose Abbey were stone. Edwina decided worse, mention the fact. Otherwise, the description of what Fielding had a matched almost exactly Edwina's earlier experience.

"He claimed to see the figure of a woman wandering outside, fluttout tonguethe ruins of the abbey."

stigate. "Fluttering?"

e wood "Floating." Bascomb waved his hand. "Hovering. A ghastly pale ind." AHands stretched toward this room, beseeching Fielding. Said the ghost

him in his room. Rattled the door. Scraped her nails against the wood t of thehe opened the doors, the specter floated down the hall away from him.

e losing Her brow wrinkled. Whatever had been in her room last night hat momentarily terrifying but hadn't attempted to harm her. Instead, she ead?" comforted. No scraping of nails, just the odd, damp sound moving accolor."floor.

"I've seen nothing at all like that, my lord." Technically it wasn't a "Larkspur claimed a ghostly nun roamed about the remains of the d at theat night. Lights bobbed around the graveyard and church. Merrywimpl rry youthings too. Insisted he saw orbs around the church. Called them spiril Probably just treasure hunters looking for the wealth everyone assum

the church. I should have the stones all taken down and the graveyard didn'toff. The story of Rose Abbey's wealth is well known in Portsmith along

ed to athe rest of the tale. But only Worthless—"

"Worthington," Edwina corrected him.

ying to "—and Fielding claimed to be attacked by the ghost." He looke to closemore at the books strewn across the library. "Worthington," he empl

"insisted the ghost of Lady Renalda tried to push him down the stairs etweenfollowed the specter out of his room." His massive shoulders gave a root Ladywas a highly excitable, odd young man."

before The briefest whiff of bergamot met her nostrils, stirring Edwina's in a pleasant manner. It must be the soap he used to wash, for it couldn't be shaving soap. Bascomb didn't seem to shave as ofter should.

well. A "I saw nothing here before the bookcase fell. There was an odd she were sound in the corner. But I doubt any ghost, even one as fierce a ly miceRenalda, has the strength to push over such a heavy bookcase whet bolts are loose or not." Edwina thought again about the book flying that to to the air toward the teapot. If it was Lady Renalda, she had excellent air endured "I'm glad to hear it."

She didn't know why she was so reticent to tell Bascomb everythi ering inEdwina thought it best, for the time being, to keep the exact details to Not because she didn't want to tell her employer, but because Edwina sure who else might be listening. "I should get back to the ledgers, m

figure. She wobbled slightly as she came to her feet.

visited Bascomb caught her arm. "Are you certain you can make out the n . Whenafter enjoying so much...tea?"

"Positive. I'm perfectly well." Bascomb's touch sent a jolt of heat ad beenarm.

'd been "I am relieved," he hummed softly, blunt fingers curled tighter aro ross theelbow, "that you are unhurt, Collins." His full lips tilted at one side semblance of a smile. "After all, I would hate for you to be injured lie. send you back to Hampshire. The ride down the hill in McDeaver's pc abbeywould be uncomfortable if you were bruised."

e heard Edwina bit back her own smile. "Very sound reasoning, my lord. t lights.get back to work promptly if I am to finish."

es is in "I also have a decent bottle of whiskey in my study should you fencedbrandy"—the words, low and deep, sent a vibration across her sking with require comfort at a later time." Bascomb's gaze dropped to her mou

jaw tilted in her direction.

The lovely, buttery sensation from earlier spilled once again do ed oncelength of Edwina's body, causing her to arch, just slightly, in his dinasized, Did Bascomb mean to kiss her? It certainly seemed—

after he Instead, he slowly released her arm, eyes still on her mouth as if oll. "Hefascinated by her lips, but there was also wariness. "Carry on, Colli

said in a harsh tone before stepping away, putting a more appropriate c insidesbetween them. "And stay away from the bookcases until I can have ertainly cleaned up."

as he "Of course, my lord," she replied, watching as he shut the door him.

nuffling Edwina sat back down at the desk, heart beating wildly. It was un s Ladybecome involved with one's employer. The idea was far more terrifyi her thebeing nearly crushed by a bookcase. Edwina doubted any encount throughBascomb would end with only a kiss.

1. She took up the ledger once more and reached for the stack of 1 from Jeffers she'd been studying when the bookcase fell. The space waing, but Looking down, she checked the floor, but there was nothing enherself. slight wet spot from where Meg had mopped up the tea.

```
wasn't The receipts were gone.
```

y lord."

umbers

t up her

und her

in the

when I

ny cart

I must

tire of

in—"or

ıth. His

jaw tilted in her direction.

The lovely, buttery sensation from earlier spilled once again down the length of Edwina's body, causing her to arch, just slightly, in his direction. Did Bascomb mean to kiss her? It certainly seemed—

Instead, he slowly released her arm, eyes still on her mouth as if he was fascinated by her lips, but there was also wariness. "Carry on, Collins," he said in a harsh tone before stepping away, putting a more appropriate distance between them. "And stay away from the bookcases until I can have this all cleaned up."

"Of course, my lord," she replied, watching as he shut the door behind him.

Edwina sat back down at the desk, heart beating wildly. It was unwise to become involved with one's employer. The idea was far more terrifying than being nearly crushed by a bookcase. Edwina doubted any encounter with Bascomb would end with only a kiss.

She took up the ledger once more and reached for the stack of receipts from Jeffers she'd been studying when the bookcase fell. The space was bare.

Looking down, she checked the floor, but there was nothing except a slight wet spot from where Meg had mopped up the tea.

The receipts were gone.

#### **CHAPTER EIGHT**

On Edwina's fourth day at Rose Abbey, the rain finally slowed to drizzle. The sky remained overcast, with only a bare hint of graseeping through the clouds. Edwina had slept well the previous night had every night since the incident in the library. Nothing disturbed he if one didn't count the highly erotic dreams Edwina was having Bascomb. Naked, wicked images of them together, his big hands rover her body. She'd awoken this morning flushed and aroused, the between her thighs aching.

Making her way to the breakfast room, Edwina was unsurprised Bascomb enjoying his usual large breakfast. What did surprise her v he was in the breakfast room at all. He'd not been present yesterd Edwina had eaten alone. She'd thought it likely his avoidance of I something to do with the kiss they'd very nearly shared. Wise of him.

An enormous plate of scrambled eggs sat before Bascomb, tw slices of ham hanging off the edge of his plate. His gray-green eyes over Edwina in annoyance.

"The rain has nearly stopped," he grumbled, pointing the fork window. "Hope you haven't unpacked, Collins."

Not much of a greeting. She would have preferred a cheer morning. "Of course not, my lord." Edwina sipped her tea. "Per thought. I'm ready to leave at a moment's notice."

Her employer made a noncommittal grunt, scowling at her from the table.

Edwina lifted her chin. "Is there something else, my lord?"

He cleared his throat and looked down at his eggs. Small touches shone on the curves of his cheeks. "Are you well this morning? I wayesterday and didn't—"

"Very well, my lord," she interrupted.

Bascomb raised his eyes back to her. The green was more pron

today. The color of leaves at the first sign of spring. "I've been busy repairs in the east wing. Water leaks have sprouted in nearly every roo not had time to check on your progress."

"Everything is well in hand," she assured him.

They stared at each other for a moment, long enough for warmth t between Edwina's breasts and settle low in her belly.

a misty "Thomas will put the library back to rights once he's finished help ly light Collins." Bascomb stood, rather abruptly, and laid down his napkin. I , as she flashed briefly in the depths of green, and Edwina did not think it r. Well, more eggs. "You should get to work. Be...careful, Collins."

about "Yes, my lord."

oaming Edwina sipped her tea and picked absently at a piece of toast as the space of his footsteps faded. Once the room grew silent again, she made her the library, balancing the cup of tea in her hand. She wasn't at all sure to find handle the attraction between them, and apparently, neither did Bavas that Yes, she was physically drawn to him, but Edwina also found shay, and Bascomb. Quite a bit.

ner had Settling in at her desk, Edwina shuffled the papers, searching thro desk drawers again for the receipts from Jeffers. The other day, a o thick bookcase had fallen and she'd comforted herself with brandy, Edwinaled thought she'd only misplaced the small pile. Tucked it in a drawer w bookcase fell and didn't recall doing so. She'd been so shaken by the i at the anything was possible. The last day or so, she'd focused on any correspondence and organizing the remainder of Bascomb's receipts. I y good morning, as the toes of her half boots hit the bottom of the desk, it o ish the to Edwina she hadn't looked there.

Getting on her hands and knees, Edwina looked at the space betw across floor and the bottom of the desk. Large enough for papers to flutter Reaching beneath the desk, she wiggled her fingers about for a slip of

Mrs. Page certainly wasn't doing her due diligence in the libra of pink floor under the desk was thick with dust.

as busy As she withdrew her hand in frustration, Edwina's fingers st something damp. She pulled back her hand with a frown. A *leaf* correctly, the leaf of a rosebush. Still wet, with a bit of mud on th lounced Edwina sat back on the rug, staring at the leaf.

How did this get in here? She looked up at the large windows, all

makinglatched. She wasn't even sure they *could* open. Had one of the panes m. I'veduring the storm?

Ask Lord B about door in library.

Fielding's odd notation echoed in her mind. Door. Not *doors*. The o crawlentrance consisted of *two* solid double doors. Was there another entr the library?

ing me, "Miss Collins?"

Longing Edwina gasped at the voice so close to her ear, turning her neck t was forpair of pleasant, if slightly vacant, brown eyes. A young man, buil bull, stood before her. A thatch of blond hair, ends sticking out over h covered his head.

e sound "Thomas, I assume?"

way to The giant nodded. "Yes, Miss Collins."

how to "Goodness, you startled me." She came to her feet, a bit awkward scomb.brushed off her skirts. "There's quite a bit of dust beneath the deelikedsneeze threatened, and she pushed a finger to her nose. "I lost a butto lied.

ugh the "Sorry, Miss Collins." Thomas spoke slowly, as if considering eac fter thewith care. He was square-jawed, with a thick neck and massive she in had "I'm done with the roof," he said by way of explaining his appearance hen the Bascomb told me to pick up the bookcase and books." A tentative neidenterossed his lips. "And I'm not to disturb you."

"You won't, Thomas. I would appreciate your assistance." She tuc But thisleaf in the palm of her hand. "Thank you."

ccurred Thomas lumbered over to the bookcase, steps echoing in the quie library. He kept his eyes averted from the portrait of the abbess.

een the "I'm not sure what happened, exactly," she said, watching as he li under.heavy wood with ease, as if it weighed nothing. "Lord Bascomb thi paper. bolts may have loosened over time."

ry. The "Rose Abbey is very...old. Things break. Holes in the roof everything with my tools."

uck on There was something childlike about Thomas, as if his body! . Moreoutgrown his mind. "I'm sorry we weren't properly introduced e edge.arrived, Thomas. Lord Bascomb must keep you quite busy."

"Yes, Miss Collins." Thomas proceeded to move the bookcas I firmlytoward its original position. "I like to be busy." He began stacking the

brokenneatly on the floor, running his hands over the rug, possibly searching mysterious bolts that had come loose.

Edwina knelt next to him, helping pick up the books. "Let me he librarythe least I can do. I'm sure the bolts merely rusted after so long. The vi ance to from the storm helped—"

"You should leave," Thomas interrupted her, one broad hand st over the stack of books in front of him. "It isn't safe for you." Soft to see aeyes flitted to hers, the pleasant, vacant smile gone to be repla t like atrembling lips. "She doesn't like new people," Thomas whi his ears, "Especially not the secretaries."

"Who? Mrs. Page?" Edwina hadn't thought Mrs. Page's dislike obe so glaring.

"No." Thomas shook his head. "The abbess."

lly, and Edwina looked him directly in the eye. "I don't believe in esk." AThomas. And you shouldn't either."

on," she "You will," he said under his breath.

Edwina stood and went back to the desk, unsettled by Thomas th wordwords. He seemed a simple, kind man. Concerned for her. But she voulders about to tolerate any more nonsense about the abbess haunting Rose . "Lorddespite what she'd experienced.

e smile Thomas said nothing else as he picked up the remainder of the bobowed before Edwina, informing her he'd be back later with tools to 1 ked thethe bookcase.

She went back to work, focusing on the ledgers, going throug t of the column carefully. After a few hours, Edwina stretched her arms wondering at the inconsistencies. Reaching into the depths of the defted theretrieved the small book containing the notes of her predecessors. The nks the fell open to Fielding's entry about the door.

She'd meant to ask Bascomb but forgotten. The note probably I fixnothing, but Edwina didn't quite believe that. She glanced around the and took the wet leaf out of her pocket where she'd stashed it when I had fararrived. The leaf shouldn't have been in the library at all, let alone leaf when I the desk. According to Bascomb, he thought Lady Renalda had faced the soldiers in her office deliberately, to give the other residents to be backAbbey time to flee. She must have known the soldiers would kill ev

e booksone of those under her care in their search for what gold they assure

for theabbey possessed.

Edwina walked to the longest wall, running her hand along the boelp. It's Ancient castles and old homes such as this were riddled with passages ibrationholes, and hidden rooms. It wasn't far-fetched to think there would have

a secret passage from this room that led to the abbey or the church out retched *Or possibly the beach below the cliffs*.

brown Edwina looked at the ruins sprawled out toward the edge of the cl ced bywould bet her best petticoat that the way out of Rose Abbey led to the spered.or possibly into the woods. The original builders of the abbey would

considered how best to hide themselves or escape if faced with a f her to Viking longships.

Fielding must have found a hidden door. Pity he hadn't both mention *where* in his notes.

ghosts, "I would have imagined after your last encounter with a wall of you'd avoid them entirely."

Edwina turned to see Bascomb, leaning against the doorjamb, w and hisher. His earlier annoyance seemed to have faded; in fact, Edwina wou was notsaid he appeared pleased to see her.

Abbey, His gray-green eyes drifted over her bosom for a moment before back to her face.

oks. He "Checking on me, my lord?"

reattach "Perhaps. Or possibly I'm merely hungry." He nodded to the trahad brought earlier. Pushing up from the door, Bascomb passed Edgh eachlook out the window. Pacing before the glass, he absently pushed s back, wave of inky hair from his brow, all the while giving Edwina an eask, sheview of his backside and the long, muscular lines of his legs. It was no bookwatching a large bear prowl about.

Longing trailed over her skin. Desire the likes of which she'd meantknown. It was becoming incredibly problematic.

e room "How are the ledgers coming along?"

Thomas "Quite well, my lord." More inconsistencies had been discover beneathvaried and spread out over the ledgers of each secretary's brief pe off withemployment, done in such a way that one automatically would assu of Roseperson before one had merely made a mistake. Each secretary's hand ery lastwas different, making it impossible to tell who had made specific entined thewhen. And with no one person checking the ledgers, as Bascomb sh

presented the perfect opportunity.

okcase. Perhaps Edwina had far more experience in ledgers being doctors, priestshe'd seen her father make the same sort of "mistakes" to hide the foreve been financial situation. Earlier, in reviewing the ledgers, she'd seen not side. from yet another stonemason named Hodges. The ledgers indicated

had been paid on a particular date, yet there were two requests for p iff. Shefrom the same Hodges. One very tersely worded.

e beach Edwina walked over to the desk and picked up one of the demanded ld haveHodges. "Do you remember a stonemason named Hodges?"

fleet of Bascomb shrugged. "I seem to recall a man by that name. Why?" "He wasn't compensated properly for the work he did in repairing ered tothe—" She held up a sheet of paper she'd taken from the desk. "—co the southwest side. He has written for payment. More than once."

f books Bascomb came over to the desk, the scent of him and her awarenes larger form sending a delicious pricking sensation along her arm atchingoversight on Fielding's part? Or one of the others'?"

ld have "The sum was noted paid during Merrywimple's tenure." But didn't think the handwriting to be his. In fact, she was certain it was not coming "Spindly little nitwit. Looked like a good gust of wind might take into the clouds. Nervous disposition." Bascomb stared down at the least small wrinkle forming between his brows.

ay Meg "You've said that about all your previous secretaries."

wina to "Untrue. Worthless was stout."

back a "I meant the nervous disposition. Not their inability to survive a scellentbreeze." Edwina pursed her lips, which drew her employer's gaze fr akin toledger to her mouth. That their attraction to each other was mutual was for debate. "How long may Lack did Morrowimple serve in this position."

for debate. "How long, may I ask, did Merrywimple serve in this posit! 1 never "Mrs. Page would know for sure. He arrived shortly after I in From London."

"Did any of them ever mention finding irregularities in the ledged. Allthey assumed the previous secretary had made?"

riod of Bascomb quirked a brow. "Well, yes. Larkstub—

me the "Larkspur," she corrected him. "You're doing that on purpose."

writing Bascomb waved a hand, but a tiny smile ghosted his lips. "It ies andmatter. He did mention it to me one morning over breakfast." He pausould, itwould only eat boiled eggs for breakfast. Had I known that, I may n

hired him. Imagine, only eating lukewarm, hardened eggs each day." red, for Edwina had to force her lips into a line to keep from smiling. 'amily'seggs would have been a deterrent to employment?"

otations "Possibly. At any rate, Larkwith—"

Hodges "Larkspur." He was deliberately trying to provoke her, to what aymentwasn't sure. Though it was vastly amusing.

"Lark*spur*," he emphasized, "thought Merrywimple had made and is from from the proper cost of two horses I had Thomas purchase. But had a chance to question him further because he resigned a short time. Said he wouldn't spend another night here no matter how much I paid part of "And even after such a discussion, did you never seek to revious rolledgers yourself? Surely you would find that necessary as often change secretaries. Perhaps even personally handle your accounts."

is of his Bascomb's hawkish features froze. Ice dripped from his words is. "Anaddressed her. "If I was in charge of the ledgers, there would be no re hire a secretary, Collins, now would there?"

Edwina "I meant no disrespect, my lord." Her gaze settled on the scar. Bot. didn't handle the accounts himself because she suspected he *couldn* him upwas the other conclusion she'd reached over the last few days. Southwedger, acousin, had once traveled to Egypt with a man who had taken a blov temple during a fight. Though he bore only a small scar on the foreheat the incident, his friend had trouble reading for more than an hour at after the fight. He claimed the words would jump about the page and stronghis head to ache. Even reading a map presented a problem.

om the "Do the numbers cause your head to ache, my lord? Since the acc not upEdwina lifted a hand but then lowered it abruptly when he growled.

ion?" Bascomb backed away from her, snatched an apple off the tray Merited.left, and went to the window. Taking a savage bite, he ignored her.

Edwina had seen him sketching but not *writing* anything. Given ers thatof some of his correspondence, it was apparent he hadn't replied to at Had he even *read* any of the letters addressed to him?

"The others never suspected," he said quietly. "Or badgere Bascomb shot her a glance filled with anger and a great deal of vulner doesn't"I should have tossed you out the moment I saw your skirts dripping ed. "Hemy study. You're more trouble than you're worth, Collins." ot have "It is nothing to be ashamed of, my lord."

"And how would you know, Collins?" He turned toward her, gre "Boiledeyes glowering at her in accusation. "You can't begin to fathom—I c and write. I'm not some dumb animal."

"My lord, I didn't mean to suggest—" Empathy filled Edwina. Ba end shebeautiful, imposing man that he was, had a weakness. No wonder he Rose Abbey and not gracing the balls of London.

error in "Don't you dare pity me, Collins," he snarled.

I never "I don't, my lord. In fact, your unpleasant personality makes it fair le later.for me not to."

him." "You're very insubordinate," he said in a silky tone, eyes narrowe lew themore on her bosom.

as you The library grew warmer, much more than could be credited meager fire Mrs. Page had lit. Edwina's nipples grew taut bene s as heperusal. She turned sharply away.

ason to "Why are you *here*, Collins? At Rose Abbey. And not wed to tedious gentleman?"

ascomb "I don't believe that is relevant to my position." Edwina made h't. Thatback to the desk, not caring for his question.

rell, her "Oh, it isn't. But I find I am curious about you beyond your exε ν to theskills, though I'll probably send you back to…where was it?"

ad from He knew perfectly well where she was from. "Hampshire a timemurmured."

d cause "Should I expect some rejected suitor to come riding up to the Rose Abbey, demanding your return? Or perhaps a cuckolded hus ident?"There was an odd glint in Bascomb's eyes as he waited for her to ans hard edge to his words. A hint of jealousy.

Ieg had "What makes you think I would cuckold a husband?" Edwina had Bascomb barely a week, though it felt much longer. As if she'd the ageknown him. The pull in his direction was nearly impossible to resist.

y of it. Bascomb strolled over to the desk, discarding the apple core. H beside her, so close his breath ruffled her hair. When the tip of h d me."dragged along the edge of Edwina's ear, she squeaked in surprise.

rability. "I don't, Collins." One large forefinger brushed against her cheek. mud inyou would cuckold a husband. I merely wanted to ascertain if there w a man."

If Edwina so much as turned, just an inch, her mouth and Bas

en-graywould touch. This close, she could see that there were striations an readhovering in his pupils, splintering through the gray-green. She reached traced the line of his scar from the corner of his eye to the edge of his is scomb, Bascomb inhaled sharply. "Careful, Collins," he whispered. "This was at Merrywimple was scared off."

"I doubt you would have welcomed the attentions of Merrywim Worthington. Perhaps Fielding."

ly easy He smiled back at her. "Possibly not." He eased away from her should return to your duties."

ed once "Yes. There's much more work to be done."

He snatched several scones off the tea tray before walking out to thelibrary, probably to return to the holes in the roof that seemed to n ath hiswith regularity.

Edwina slumped down into the chair before the desk, dising a somecompletely in the ledgers before her. Part of her, the wild, reckless ver herself she rarely allowed out, wanted nothing more than to runer wayBascomb.

A danger far more frightening than whatever lurked in Rose Abbey emplary

e," she

door of

band?"

swer. A

known

always

e stood

is nose

"Think

as such

comb's

would touch. This close, she could see that there were striations of gold hovering in his pupils, splintering through the gray-green. She reached up and traced the line of his scar from the corner of his eye to the edge of his mouth.

Bascomb inhaled sharply. "Careful, Collins," he whispered. "This is how Merrywimple was scared off."

"I doubt you would have welcomed the attentions of Merrywimple. Or Worthington. Perhaps Fielding."

He smiled back at her. "Possibly not." He eased away from her. "You should return to your duties."

"Yes. There's much more work to be done."

He snatched several scones off the tea tray before walking out of the library, probably to return to the holes in the roof that seemed to multiply with regularity.

Edwina slumped down into the chair before the desk, disinterested completely in the ledgers before her. Part of her, the wild, reckless version of herself she rarely allowed out, wanted nothing more than to run after Bascomb.

A danger far more frightening than whatever lurked in Rose Abbey.

## **CHAPTER NINE**

Edwina tossed two of the ledgers along with the small book holding notes by Fielding and the others onto her bed. About a quarter of the r for payment from various tradesmen did not match the notations ledgers, too many mistakes to be attributed to merely oversight, est since the errors had occurred under the watch of each of her predect There was no possible way that *every* secretary Bascomb had hired v incompetent. Fielding had seen the errors, as had Larkspur, but the Rose Abbey before they could investigate. Bascomb wouldn't see any because he was relying on the secretary he hired to do so. And the ter those later secretaries had become briefer, the men frightened awa Rose Abbey much sooner.

Before they could put the pieces together?

Picking up a biscuit from the plate she'd set on the pillow, chewed thoughtfully.

There was a notation in one of the ledgers from over a year Merrywimple's handwriting. The purchase of a new headstone for the Lady Renalda. It was a rather large sum. Far more than Edwina wou thought a headstone for a long-dead abbess would have merited. She w once she found the receipt for the headstone, *if* she found it, the amor wouldn't match the sum in the ledger.

As requested by Mrs. Page, read the note next to the headst Merrywimple's neat handwriting, except it looked like an extra zero hadded to the amount after he'd noted the sum. Edwina squinted. *F* seven had subtly been changed to a nine. The ink was a shade dark slightly.

Edwina sat back, tapping her finger against her lips. Had a graactually been purchased? Merrywimple was no longer around for Edask. Nor could she question Bascomb, who would instantly become de about his handicap and lack of attention to the ledgers. And she cocouldn't ask Mrs. Page.

Tomorrow, Edwina would venture out to the remains of the chur and see if there was a grave marker for the abbess. It should be the onl of stone in the graveyard not cracked or covered with moss, because if it had been purchased, her marker would be much younger than the res

A thud sounded outside her door, followed by a soft scratch all thefingernails against the wood.

equests Edwina stared at the door. Fear spiked almost immediately, but she in the it away. Thomas could be lugging about...something, though given the becially that seemed unlikely. Mrs. Page wandering about? No, her quarter cessors. downstairs. Surely it couldn't be Bascomb. Which left only one other couldness that the door, much more insistent this time.

v'd left "She doesn't like new people."

Edwina refused to be frightened away as Fielding had been, but so sures of or something was standing outside in the hall. Crawling quietly off the york from she looked around her room for something to use as a weapon. Grabb of her half boots from the floor where she had carelessly tossed her for earlier, Edwina took a deep breath and opened the door.

The hall was dark except for a lamp left burning on a table at the the stairs. The house itself was silent as a tomb. Quiet. Holding the halp ago, in up, Edwina took a confident step outside her room. "You want abbess, attention," she said to the empty hallway. "Now you have it. Show you lid have A flash of pale cream floated at the very edge of the light cast as sure lamp. There came the sound of fingernails scratching along the wall. A int paid shape hovered at the end of the hall near the stairs.

"You don't scare me," Edwina said firmly, raising the half boot hig one, in The haunting of Rose Abbey was definitely real, but she doubted ad been the result of a vengeful spirit. Edwina was willing to bet that when and the Bascomb's secretaries began questioning the discrepancies in the ac er. Just the "ghost" scared them away. She'd made no secret she was review ledgers. There was a reason she'd been lured out of her room tonight.

vestone "I'm not leaving," Edwina said into the darkness.

wina to A hand, pale and elongated, seemed to rise from the landing, ther fensive gone, reappearing a moment later at the foot of the stairs, heading ertainly direction of the library.

*Fine*. Edwina was no coward. She would follow this specter.

Emboldened, she strode down the hall to the stairs and descended rechyardlanding. Below her, the house was bathed in nearly complete darkness by piecefor the light of a wall sconce in the foyer. As much as she wanted to radindeed the departing form, the wisest course would be to go back up the state. In take the lamp left sitting on the table before descending. She turned a ning of only mere steps from the lamp when the air stirred the edge of her night the cotton fluttering around her ankles.

e forced Hands pulled her nightgown, and it tightened around her neck, ne hour, choking her. She lost her footing on the stairs. The half boot flew from were fingers as she tilted wildly on the step. A cry of alarm left her throat option. fell back, her hip slamming against the wall before she spun tow landing and the next set of stairs. If she didn't stop herself, Edwing

tumble down further, landing with her neck broken. She grabbed preonebanister, her fingers digging into the wood, trying to stop her fall. I he bed, banging against the banister, Edwina's head pointed toward the foyer ing oneher back slammed into the landing.

Dotwear Edwina held her breath, not daring to look around in the darkness, whoever had tried to pull her down the stairs assumed her to be α top of unconscious.

alf boot A lamp flared suddenly in the darkness on the opposite side ted mylanding. Booted feet, overly large, jumped down the stairs to her.

irself." Panicked, thinking her assassin had returned to finish the job, by therolled away, kicking at the boots with her bare feet.

It's me. Jonah. Stop." Worry etched the sharp edges of his features as ther. hold of her foot doing most of the kicking. "Edwina," he said rought it wasme. Jonah."

any of Edwina stilled. "Your given name is Jonah?"

"counts, "Yes. I'm not sure that's what is important at the moment."

ring the He'd gotten to her quickly, far too quickly for someone who shou been asleep in his bed. In her mounting panic, she jerked away froutstretched hand. "Did you toss me down the stairs?"

n it was His brows drew together. "What? Of course not. Have you he in thehead?" Bascomb gently pulled her into a seated position. A warm he down her arm, checking to make sure she was whole. "Where does it he "I'm fine—I—" Edwina's voice trembled. She'd nearly broken her in the warm has broken here.

d to the falling down the stairs. Had she not grabbed at the banister, she mig except have tumbled all the way to the floor below.

ce after Someone tried to kill me.

irs and "Edwina," Bascomb rumbled. "You're safe." He reached up to and wasstrand of hair out of her eyes. He set down the lamp and pulled her a strength to the safety of his bergamot-scented chest. "I have yo

You're safe. I promise."

nearly "I thought—" She allowed herself to be pulled into his embrarom hercurled her hands into his shirt, feeling the firm muscles beneath her as she"I heard something in the hall. I—" She stopped herself from telli ard the about the floating white figure that had lured her out of her room. "a couldhave tripped." She pulled away from Bascomb. "An accident, nothing at the The light only reached the lower half of Bascomb's face when Her hipback, enough so that she could see him frown. "You accused me of t, whileyou down the stairs."

"Maybe I did hit my head." She gave him a weak smile and came hopingfeet.

dead or Mrs. Page appeared in a circle of light below, clutching her rob lord. Miss Collins. What has happened? I heard a thud and a screan of theshadowed light gave her features a stark, menacing look.

Edwina stared down at Mrs. Page, trying to discern wheth Edwinahousekeeper seemed disappointed not to find her at the base of the stabroken heap.

op that. "I'm sorry you were disturbed, Mrs. Page," Bascomb answered. "he tookcouldn't sleep and decided to retrieve a book from the library. Her toe ly. "It's on the stair."

Edwina turned to him. "Yes, Mrs. Page. Clumsy of me. My apolowaking you."

"You should be more careful, Miss Collins," Mrs. Page snipped, g ld haveher robe tighter to her thin form before retreating back into the darkne om hiswhence she'd come.

Bascomb got to his feet beside Edwina, his hand sliding do it yourshoulder to her waist. Holding up the lamp to light the stairs, he wa and ranforward. "Come, Collins. I'll get you back to your room."

urt?" She trembled at his touch, the fear melting away to be replace er neckanother, more problematic emotion. Edwina was intimately aware the

the wellwas little between them except the thin cotton of her nightgown. Her puckered beneath the material as something delicious twisted deep install.

The top of his shirt was unbuttoned, leaving that tiny space of skin exbrush aEdwina couldn't take her eyes off the small triangle, wanting to press close toto the spot.

u now. Bascomb frowned at her. "Are you sure you haven't hit your Because you're staring, Collins. A bit rudely, I might add," he said.

ce. She Her hand hovered between them, then she tentatively brush fingers.fingertips along the line of his jaw before retreating. "You really do him himmost beautiful eyes. Seems wasted on a man."

"I must "You did hit your head if you are spouting nonsense like that agai more." words were quiet. Soft. He led her up the stairs, arm wrapped firmly he sather waist, only stopping when they arrived before the open door of her tossing "I was nearly betrothed. Once." She looked down at her bare feet I out from beneath her nightgown. "He was a barrister. Incredibly tedice to herbecame even more so upon realizing that marriage to me did not in dowry."

e. "My Bascomb inhaled softly. "A great fool, for a barrister." His finge n." Theher chin, looking down at Edwina. "I was once nearly wed myself. I didn't care for the scar."

ner the "An even greater fool than my barrister," she whispered. "I find the nirs in agives you character."

A small grin crossed his lips before his mouth lowered to hers.

Collins Oh.

caught A soft sound left Edwina at the light pressure. She stood on ti wordless plea for him to claim her mouth more fully. Bascomb ran his gies foralong the seam of her lips, coaxing her mouth to open beneath his. She out her tongue, stroking his, sucking lightly at the tip.

rabbing He groaned and pushed Edwina against the wall. Cupping her ss fromthrough the thin cotton of her nightgown, he caressed her nipple, teas stroking while she pushed herself against him. His hips rocked again wn herthe hard length of him pressing between her thighs.

ved her Edwina kissed him harder, her legs parting beneath the onslaugh bigger body. There was so little between them. Two minuscule la ed withclothing. She groaned, rubbing herself against him, feeding the flame lat therebetween them.

nipples He tore his mouth from hers. "I don't believe I'll send you lide her. Hampshire, Collins." Bascomb pressed his forehead against hers.

xposed. "No?" Edwina pressed herself more fully along the muscled lengther lipsbody.

"No." He stared down at her, one large blunt finger tracing the line head?jaw. "You are like a peach." A big hand palmed her breast throunightgown. "You'll be bruised if you are bounced back down to Portsted her They stumbled backward into her room, Bascomb kicking the dotave theand reaching behind him to throw the lock. She fell through the bed-to the coverlet.

n." The "Ouch." She sat up, pulling out the ledger poking into her side. "Edwina." He nipped at the skin of her neck before raising his

room. survey the bed. "What is all this?"

peeking "Later." She would tell him all her suspicions later. Her mouth ar ous. Hepulsed as she lay back on the bed.

clude a "Are you sure, Edwina?" Bascomb started to unbutton his shirt, w her with hooded eyes. "The impropriety of the situation doesn't escape rs took "I'm not a maid. I—well, there isn't any need to be gentle or spare But shesight of your body."

Oh please, dear God, don't let him spare me.

the scar He tossed his shirt to the floor to reveal a delicious swath of male every muscle carved in exquisite detail rippled as his fingers moved trousers. "Damn. My boots." After walking over to a chair, he sat and them off.

iptoe, a "Was it the barrister?" He snapped. "The bloody fool who ther tonguewant you?"

darted "Jonah—"

His eyes closed for a moment. "I like the way you say my name breastagain."

ing and "Jonah," she said in a low, seductive tone. "The barrister doesn't m st hers, "No, I don't suppose he does." He unbuttoned his trousers. "I've

you since the second you walked into my study. Snarling and spitting t of hiswet cat. Dripping mud everywhere. Telling me dropping the a frowers of name was an oversight." The trousers were tossed to the floor.

burning Edwina's eyes widened. She should have guessed, given the size feet.

"Did you use up all your bravery earlier, Collins?"
"No." She got up on her knees and reached for him.

h of his Bascomb's mouth fell on hers, hot and possessive, as if he could another moment to have her. The heat of his skin singed the tips e of herfingers as she traced the lines of his ribs. The curves of his pectora 1gh the smooth, taut belly.

nith." He fell on her gently, their limbs tangling, the air filling with soft or shutand whispers. As he tore at the top of her nightgown, Edwina he curtainscotton shredding beneath his assault, then felt the cooler air of the reher breasts. His thumb rubbed over her nipple, teasing at the peak be sucked the tip into his mouth.

chin to "Beautiful," he murmured against her breast. "Much lovelie Fielding."

In id body Edwina started to giggle, but it ended in a moan as his teeth graskin. She pushed her hips up, begging him silently to touch her.

atching A hand traveled over her thigh before a thick finger traced along me." slit, gently teasing back and forth, drawing out the wetness.

me the Edwina gasped as her legs fell apart.

"I think you deserve gentleness, Edwina." Bascomb's mouth l breast. He kissed the line of her jaw, pausing to brush her lips with his e torso; or not. But possibly not at this moment." He hissed as her fingers w 1 to hisaround the hardness bumping into her thigh. "I want you too much."

tugged She wanted him inside her. Desperately. A part of her, perhaps all wanted to belong to Bascomb. Jonah. It felt right in a way it never he didn't the barrister. Edwina squeezed. Stroked. Listened to the beautiful sou made as she touched him.

He sunk his finger inside her, his thumb brushing lightly over the 2. Do itbit of flesh hidden in her folds. His fingers moved over her until Edw needy and writhing beneath him.

"Later," he said roughly. "Later I'll worship you properly. Take m wantedFeast on every bit of this delicious skin. Possibly for days on end." g like a *Oh, that sounds marvelous.* "Yes."

m your Bascomb flipped her on her stomach, pushing her nightgown up o thighs, and raised her to her knees. Fingers threaded through her he of hiskissed the line of her neck, tugging down the ends of her nightgown u shoulders and spine were exposed. The heat of his mouth moved

down her spine as she panted beneath him.

A cry left her as Bascomb thrust inside her. He was so much larg n't waitthe barrister, which she supposed—

of her Edwina whimpered as his cock hit a sensitive spot inside her. He ls. Thelied. He took her hard. Rough. He moved his hand between her lepurpose, drawing up her pleasure until she screamed into the pillow.

moans "I was terrified"—the words came out thick and harsh—"when ard theyou on the stairs. Never put yourself in such danger again." Bascoml oom oninto her so hard her back arched. "My heart stopped, Eddie. I thought fore heyou and I've only just found you."

Edwina's own heart constricted at the nickname.

er than Her release was so blinding, so brilliant, the room spun. Bascomt climax came a moment later, the warmth of his seed spilling along her zed herHis mouth fell to the back of her neck. Beautiful words fell from the Gorgeous, wicked things.

her wet Bascomb rolled to the side, taking her with him. His arms pul close. "Did I hurt you?"

"Only in the best way."

left her His arms tightened. They lay quietly together listening to the fire . "Maidhearth. "It looks like rain tomorrow," he murmured, pressing a kiss rappedcheek.

Edwina laced her fingers with his and squeezed.

of her, ad with ands he pulsing vina lay

ver her air. He ntil her slowly down her spine as she panted beneath him.

A cry left her as Bascomb thrust inside her. He was so much larger than the barrister, which she supposed—

Edwina whimpered as his cock hit a sensitive spot inside her. He hadn't lied. He took her hard. Rough. He moved his hand between her legs with purpose, drawing up her pleasure until she screamed into the pillow.

"I was terrified"—the words came out thick and harsh—"when I found you on the stairs. Never put yourself in such danger again." Bascomb thrust into her so hard her back arched. "My heart stopped, Eddie. I thought I'd lost you and I've only just found you."

Edwina's own heart constricted at the nickname.

Her release was so blinding, so brilliant, the room spun. Bascomb's own climax came a moment later, the warmth of his seed spilling along her thighs. His mouth fell to the back of her neck. Beautiful words fell from his lips. Gorgeous, wicked things.

Bascomb rolled to the side, taking her with him. His arms pulled her close. "Did I hurt you?"

"Only in the best way."

His arms tightened. They lay quietly together listening to the fire in the hearth. "It looks like rain tomorrow," he murmured, pressing a kiss to her cheek.

Edwina laced her fingers with his and squeezed.

### **CHAPTER TEN**

 $E_{\text{DWINA FLIPPED OPEN}}$  the ledgers once more, wiggling on her chain soreness between her thighs. They'd parted quietly as pearl-gray lighter room. Kissing her hard, Bascomb had whispered he would see breakfast, his big hand trailing down her body as if reluctant to leave h

But Edwina hadn't awoken until nearly nine o'clock, fluster rubbing the sleep from her eyes. Bascomb had already been gone whe reached the breakfast room, which was probably just as well. She certain how to approach him after last night. Yes, he wanted her to sin what capacity? Would they return to their slightly contentious, fli relationship? Or would there be something more?

Frowning, she took in the still-thunderous skies outside the window. The sun hadn't yet decided to make an appearance at Rose Mist hovered just above the grass as she looked out over the ruins abbey. Her eyes landed on the church, and she remembered her decisearch for the grave of the abbess.

"Good morning, Miss Collins." Mrs. Page came through the doors in her hands. "I thought you might like tea and a bite of something You didn't come down for breakfast."

"No, I fear after my near tumble down the stairs"—she watcl housekeeper for any reaction—"I found myself tossing and turning." *I* stole across her cheeks as she thought of her and Bascomb entangled bed. "I overslept."

A sound came from the housekeeper. Disappointment at not succin pushing Edwina down the stairs? She tried to discern Mrs. Page' and failed. Accusing the housekeeper outright of trying to throw her do stairs and dressing as a ghost would gain her nothing. Edwina would proof to convince Bascomb that Mrs. Page was behind the haunti skimming money from his accounts.

"An unfortunate occurrence, Miss Collins. You nearly broke you

last night. I leave a lamp burning at the end of the hall for a reason—I for you to use."

There wasn't anyone else at Rose Abbey capable of manipulat ledgers besides Mrs. Page. Or dressing up like a ghost. Mrs. Oates, th never left the kitchens and was half-blind. Mr. Oates was seventy if hady and possessed a terrible limp. Meg, sweet and fragile, was far too at the Thomas, though kind, was a simpleton.

nt filled That left Mrs. Page. But the question remained. *Why* would Mrs. I her at such a thing?

er. "I appreciate the tray, Mrs. Page." Edwina poured herself a cup ed and "You've been here a long time, haven't you? At Rose Abbey." Perhap n she'd engaged the older woman in polite conversation, Mrs. Page wasn't inadvertently reveal something.

tay, but "All my life." The housekeeper clasped her hands and looked up rtatious portrait of the abbess. "I was born here. You could say I grew up wit Renalda."

library What an odd and slightly morbid way to put things. "So you beli Abbey. abbey is haunted by Lady Renalda's vengeful spirit?"

"Wouldn't you find yourself vengeful, Miss Collins, if you were relision to evicted from your home but also murdered in it? For gold? A title?

Page raised a brow. "Add to it having your name and reputation sullied, a tray housekeeper stepped up to the fireplace. "I'm sure McDeaver"—to eat. curled slightly—"told you the entire tale. He seems to delight in inf Lord Bascomb's secretaries of the gruesome history of Rose Abbey.

ned the collection of weak gentlemen. Afraid of their own shadows. London 1 A blush filled with milksops. Merrywimple in particular behaved as if their on her monsters hiding beneath the bed."

"But you aren't frightened."

ceeding "No." The housekeeper pierced her with a sharp look. "I've not s mood fear from Lady Renalda."

"So you've seen her ghost, then?" Edwina leaned forward, search ld needwoman for any tic or tell that would give her away.

ng and "I feel her presence. The scent of roses that always accompani Lady Renalda was a brave, courageous woman who deserved far bettur neck to be reduced to a ghost story meant to frighten children."

The housekeeper defended the abbess quite fiercely.

amely, "Lady Renalda," Mrs. Page continued in a crisp tone, "was my an A cousin, if you wish to think of her as such, many times removed ing the protective of her memory and Rose Abbey, as my mother was and her e cook, before her. My family has served the constant stream of Lord Bascon e was amany years. Rose Abbey is my home."

in error. Rose Abbey belonged to Mrs. Page's family as much as it delage doBascomb, considering how long her family had been here.

"When the first Lord Bascomb came to evict the nuns from Rose of tea.—"

is if she "They knew each other, Lady Renalda and that first Lord Bascomt mightPage interrupted. "Something I'm sure McDeaver leaves out of his to easier to paint her as a somewhat mad, greedy woman who merely reform at theget out of the way." Mrs. Page shook her head. "Lady Renalda is the LadyAlfred Duston's proposal of marriage and instead chose to serve the construction of the first Lord Based at Edwina. "That was the name of the first Lord Based at Edwina and instead chose to serve the construction of the statement of the first Lord Based at Edwina."

eve the Alfred Duston. He jumped at the opportunity to become a titled lord at the woman who'd once rejected him. Duston's sword took her life. tot onlyvery room. Can you imagine? A woman you had once loved. All le?" Mrs. your pride and greed dictated you do so."

1?" The "No." The entire story made Edwina slightly ill. Poor Lady Renald her lip "Alfred Duston left a journal of sorts. More a warning to tho ormingwould succeed him. I think it must be in His Lordship's study, though What ahe's read it." Her eyes caught Edwina's.

nust be She knows he likely cannot.

"Duston got his title but was haunted by the horror of his actions remainder of his days. He wandered about Rose Abbey, even a married, speaking to Lady Renalda. Begging forgiveness for what he hing toto her and her nuns."

"But not all her nuns."

they took the treasure of Rose Abbey with them or hid it. Because les her.never found the gold plate and jewels the abbey supposedly possess ter thanCrown wasn't pleased with his failure. His stature in London fade result, despite the title." She shot Edwina a thin, smug smile. "No Behas been happy here since."

ncestor. "Not even the previous one?" Bascomb had inferred to Edwina the d. I amhousekeeper and his uncle had had a long-standing affair.

mother Mrs. Page's cheeks colored. "I've duties to attend to, Miss Collin nbs forthat the roads are clear, I have errands in Portsmith. Please excuse m nodded to Edwina, brushed past her with a sweep of her agitated ski i't beensailed out the door.

id Lord Edwina stared at the doorway for the longest time, convinced n had a reason for the doctored accounts, the multitude of repairs, a Abbeymysterious ghost that haunted Rose Abbey.

Mrs. Page requests a new gravestone for the abbess.

o," Mrs. She stood and went over to the fireplace, the deep well of sorreale. Farseemed to hang over the estate finally making sense.

fused to "I'm sorry," she whispered to the portrait of Lady Renalda. "I'm rejected sorry."

hurch."

scomb.

nd evict

In this

pecause

a. se who

I doubt

for the fter he

Perhaps
Duston
ed. The
ed as a
ascomb

"Not even the previous one?" Bascomb had inferred to Edwina that the housekeeper and his uncle had had a long-standing affair.

Mrs. Page's cheeks colored. "I've duties to attend to, Miss Collins. Now that the roads are clear, I have errands in Portsmith. Please excuse me." She nodded to Edwina, brushed past her with a sweep of her agitated skirts, and sailed out the door.

Edwina stared at the doorway for the longest time, convinced now she had a reason for the doctored accounts, the multitude of repairs, and the mysterious ghost that haunted Rose Abbey.

*Mrs.* Page requests a new gravestone for the abbess.

She stood and went over to the fireplace, the deep well of sorrow that seemed to hang over the estate finally making sense.

"I'm sorry," she whispered to the portrait of Lady Renalda. "I'm so very sorry."

## CHAPTER ELEVEN

Edwina worked for several more hours after the departure of Mrs carefully delving back into the notes of Merrywimple, Larkspi Worthington. The theft from Bascomb's accounts had been occurring steady trickle since he'd inherited the estate eighteen months ago. really very clever. A lord who couldn't review his own accounts. A subsecretaries who would be scared off if they got too close to the truth hadn't arrived, the theft could have continued for years before Barealized what was happening.

Speaking of which, her employer had yet to make an appearance library as was his habit. Edwina tried not to be disappointed. It was o night—

"Excuse me, miss. I've brought you a fresh pot of tea."

Edwina startled at the sound of Meg's voice, grateful the mainterrupted the direction of her thoughts. Leaving the desk, she stretch arms overhead and made her way to the settee. "Thank you. The page brought me earlier has grown quite cold."

As before, Meg set down the tray but kept her gaze on the por Lady Renalda. The maid sidled along the wall to approach the desk a up Edwina's now cold pot of tea. The girl glanced at Edwina. "You scared like them, are you, Miss Collins?"

"You mean the other secretaries?" Edwina bit into a biscuit. "No not." She wasn't about to allow Mrs. Page strutting about in a white s scare her away from discovering the extent of the theft from Lord Ba Nor would she allow Mrs. Page to get away with her assault of Edw previous night.

She tapped her lips with a finger. Mrs. Page must have run do stairs after Edwina had fallen, discarded the sheet or whatever it v wore when she pretended to be the ghost, then appeared below in he acting as if she'd just been awakened.

"Mr. Fielding told me he saw lights in the graveyard and the c Meg gave her a wide-eyed look. "Bobbing about in the darkness. Scar something terrible. Have you ever seen lights, Miss Collins?"

"No. And I don't believe in ghosts. You shouldn't either, Meg."

The maid glanced over at Edwina's desk stacked with papers a ledgers. "Should I bring you another pot in a little while? Since you appeal to be page, working on the ledgers?"

"No, actually I think I'm done for the day. Now that the rain has p ng in a believe I'll walk about the grounds and explore the ruins. The archite It was quite lovely. Possibly take a look at the gravestones or peek ins eries of church. Lord Bascomb is bound to come looking for me, and Mrs. Page gone to Portsmith. Will you please inform him of my whereabouts?"

"You but Mrs. Page gave for us, the staff. I mean, not to get a

"Yes, but—Mrs. Page says for us—the staff, I mean—not to get the churchyard." Meg bit her lip. "Best be careful, Miss Collins. The in the are loose at the edge of the cliff. And—" The girl's eyes shifted to the nly last of the abbess. "Well, and *she* doesn't like it when you wander about close to her nuns." Meg lowered her voice to a whisper. "The ones ground, I mean."

aid had "Have you seen her, Meg? The abbess?"

hed her The maid's feet shifted, fingers plucking at the fabric. "Only once of Mrs. All in white. Skirts floating about. I heard something scratching window, and when I looked outside—" The girl paled. "I was trait of something terrible. I heard how they talked about Rose Abbey in Ports and pick but never believed it." She shook her head. "But there ain't aren't opportunities in the village. Wages here are more than I can earn at the or taking in mending." Her thin shoulders gave a shrug. "Been her

o, I am Lord Bascomb came. I mean, this Lord Bascomb, miss."

sheet to "And you're the only maid that's ever worked here?"

"Another one of the girls in Portsmith came with me, but she let vina the it's just me and Thomas. And Mrs. Page told me there's nothing to fe Lady Renalda."

wn the "There isn't," Edwina said firmly. "If anything, say a prayer for vas she Renalda and her nuns."

er robe,

hurch."
red him

and the ou'll be

assed, I cture is ide the age has

close to graves portrait and get in the

e, miss. at my scared smith... many tavern e since

ft. Now ar from

or Lady

# CHAPTER TWELVE

 $E_{\text{DWINA PULLED HER}}$  shawl tighter around her shoulders and strolled the remains of the abbey, admiring the architecture of the wide, gothic The ground here was swampy in patches, moisture still dripping do stone. She jumped across a string of puddles, intent on making her was churchyard. The wind kicked up, billowing her skirts as she approach first grave marker. She took her time, peering down in an attempt to a stone etched with dates, but the elements had erased the names from the stones.

Not only did she not find the grave of Lady Renalda, but none stones appeared to have been recently carved.

A heavy weight landed firmly on Edwina's shoulders at the ne must give Bascomb.

He'd become important to her in such a short time, almost fr instant Edwina had caught sight of him, insulting her from behind the his study. And regardless of what their future held after their pas encounter last night, Edwina owed it to Bascomb to tell him t housekeeper was skimming from his accounts and had frightened as other secretaries from Rose Abbey.

Not to mention that she had tried to harm Edwina.

She stepped over a small, nearly dead rosebush, pulling up her ski felt something in her pocket. Reaching inside, she pulled out the lea found beneath the desk. Edwina studied the leaf, now dry and star crumble. When she returned to the library today, she would lool closely at the bookcases along the wall. Now that she knew more of the of Lady Renalda, Edwina hadn't any doubt that there was a hidden do other nuns would have gathered in her office when the soldiers came.

If the abbey possessed any wealth, it was reasonable to expect 1 gold went with the remainder of her flock, all without being seen soldiers. Which meant there was a passageway out of Rose Abbey, acc

through the library.

And someone was using it. To throw books at teapots and topp bookcases. To terrify Bascomb's legion of secretaries.

The ground shifted beneath her feet, and she looked up, surprised herself at the very edge of the churchyard where the cliffs began. I stretched out before her, still rough and roiling from the recent stor throughtang of salt filled the air. Edwina turned and faced the ruins and th arches. portion of the older part of Rose Abbey that had once been Lady Reown the residence, noting the odd way the rosebushes had been planted as the y to the toward the church.

hed the She cocked her head.

read the The bushes weren't planted in the pattern of any garden Edwina h most of enjoyed. There were no gatherings for a bench or a place of prayer. I at all like the roses closer to the abbey and main house.

of the *Incredibly odd*.

Looking down over the cliffs, careful not to get too close, she reasons she rosebush had been planted by itself a few feet from her. Then a leading around a cluster of graves to the church.

om the She walked back and forth several times, becoming surer with eve desk in The rosebushes were markers, planted on the lawn in such a wassionate purpose. Like a map to buried treasure.

hat his Or a series of tunnels.

way the Lady Renalda hadn't inhabited Rose Abbey for nearly three had years, and no rosebush, no matter how determined, could live the without help. Someone was ensuring the line of rosebushes stayed rts, and Perhaps a series of housekeepers.

Edwina took off in the direction of the church. She jumped over the sinking graves and onto the crumbling steps of the church, he more beating wildly at her discovery. A door in the library was an entry point story Lady Renalda's office to a series of tunnels. The church seemed a like or. The for at least one exit. If the abbess had indeed bought time for her for escape, some of them might have come to the church and strippe that the whatever gold and jeweled relics it possessed, then gone back into the by the The soldiers would never have seen them.

Tentatively she tiptoed inside, nose wrinkling at the scents of mild dust. Broken stone lay in heaps along the floor. Weeds grew through

crack. The entire space spoke of age and disuse.

le over Except for the muddy footprints coming from behind the altar.

Edwina's heart nearly stopped in her chest. She wasn't the only o to findhad ventured here. Meg had mentioned lights in the church at night. So The sealeast one of Bascomb's former secretaries.

m. The She climbed over a large stack of bricks following the mudd e stonecursing when her skirts caught on, of all things, a bloody rosebush t nalda's found its way inside, springing through a crack in the floor. Why camereached down to pull her skirt free, she saw it.

A latch. In the floor.

Stumbling over the debris in the church, she made her way ov ad evertrapdoor set into the base of the altar. The muddy footprints led righ Nothingedge.

I knew it.

The door must lead to a tunnel. Was Mrs. Page using the tunnel talized ato the church at night and look for the abbey's hidden gold? And stanother, also be using the passage to spy on Bascomb's secretaries, scaring then

She had to tell Bascomb.

Kneeling, Edwina lifted open the small trapdoor cut into the ston undredthe hinges making not a sound. Someone had recently oiled them, no at longPeering into the darkness of the tunnel, she could make out nothing. A intact.or lamp was needed.

Drat.

one of Just as Edwina resolved to return to the house and retrieve a er heartshuffle sounded behind her.

nt from And then the world went black.

ely spot

lock to



d it of

tunnel. Edwina blinked in the darkness, wincing as she tried to raise her he was sprawled on her back in the dirt. Silence surrounded her. Carefu lew andsat up, her fingers touching the tender spot at the back of her head. I h every

thing she remembered was peering into the hole beneath the all thinking she needed light to properly explore the tunnel below. How lone whoshe been lying here?

phad at A sudden rush of panic flooded Edwina. There wasn't so muc pinprick of light. She reached up with both her hands and touched by trail, but emptiness. The trapdoor must be above her, but there was no hat hadreach it, not without a ladder or a rope.

someone would come looking for her. Eventually. Meg knew s walking to the church. When Edwina didn't arrive for tea, Meg would rer to aBascomb.

t to the Edwina calmed herself. Bascomb would look for her. He would. S had to stay put for a time.

Whoever had hit Edwina, and it could only be Mrs. Page, had pus o comeinto the hole. The housekeeper knew her secret had been discovered the must might return at any moment and do far worse than merely hit Edwin awaythe head. Desperate people did desperate things. Going to Portsmith of theday was merely a ruse.

The tunnel undoubtedly led to the library, but there wasn't any telling else. She could just as easily find herself on the beach or lost in the e floor, outside of Rose Abbey. But any alternative was better than simply wai doubt. Mrs. Page to return and finish her off.

Edwina stretched out her arms to either side. The tunnel didn't seem to wide. Her fingertips touched the rough edges of stone. Definitely mar light, aEdwina walked carefully in a circle, one hand on the wall, until her curved away into more emptiness. The tunnel. Drifting her fingers in she met stone again.

*Very good.* Only one tunnel out.

Carefully, she inched through the passage, her fingers trailing alestone on either side. How long had it taken someone to build this turad. Shemust have been created around the same time the abbey had been built lly, she — After a few moments, her right hand touched only emptiness as to The lastfell away.

Damn.

tar and She'd been afraid of this. Feeling her way around, Edwina could any hadthe tunnel split. Walking to her right a few steps, she was assaulted

scents of salt and damp earth. The distant rumble of waves met hear has a Edwina ignored the small burst of triumph that she'd been right. The nothinghad fled to the beach. The knowledge didn't help her at the moment.

way to "Not that way," she whispered, turning back the way she'd come. her way to the original passage and moved forward.

heart. Her half boots scuffed along the dirt as she continued on, hope he waswould end up at the library. After about half an hour, the tunnel see informtake a slight incline. The toe of her boot hit something solid.

The bottom of stairs.

he only Holding on to the wall, she felt her way upward until the pitch-t the tunnel lightened enough so she could see her hand in front of her hed herdoor was in front of her. She could see the outline. Reaching the top ed. Shestairs, she ran her fingers over the wall, feeling for a lever or trigger na overthe hidden door. Finally, her thumb caught on something.

for the The door, actually the lower part of the bookcase, swung open swoosh.

irkness. Edwina recognized that sound. She'd heard it before. Just before y wherewas thrown at her pot of tea.

woods I knew it wasn't a bloody ghost.

ting for Stepping into the library, Edwina watched as the door slid smooth into place. A book, covered in burgundy leather, had fallen forward bed her, snapped back into place as the door shut.

be too The lever to open the door.

1-made. Examining the bookcase, Edwina searched for the outline of the defingers couldn't see it. Impossible to find if one wasn't looking. How had I the air, seen it?

"Collins." Bascomb was seated at her desk, staring at her. His I were creased with relief. "Thank God. Collins."

ong the Edwina pointed at the bookcase. "There is a—"

nnel? It "What the bloody hell are you doing in the wall?" he interrupted, It a hand through his hair. "I've been searching for you for hours. No he wallPortsmith has seen you, and I—" He came forward in a rush and tool his arms, kissing her cheek, her forehead, and finally her mouth.

Oh. He's been worried.

tell that Her knees buckled, but Bascomb held her tight. Squeezing her u by thegasped for air. "Jonah. I can't breathe."

er ears. He cupped the back of her head, the gray-green of his eyes lumi ne nunsthe dim light of the room. "I couldn't find you. I thought—"

"Ouch." Edwina winced as his fingers found the lump at the base She feltskull.

Bascomb immediately pulled his fingers away, dark with blood. "ing shebleeding."

med to "I am?"

He pulled her onto his lap.

Edwina struggled. Half-heartedly. "I'm fine. Set me down. So black ofmight see."

face. A "I don't care." Pulling a handkerchief from his pocket, he pres of the cloth to her head gently, rocking her as if she was a child.

to open "I'm quite well, Jonah. I have to tell you—"

"I thought you left Rose Abbey," Bascomb whispered. "I v with aPortsmith and looked. Searched. I found Mrs. Page at the butcher she hadn't seen you either." A stricken look flashed across his featua bookthought you were gone. Because of last night."

"Oh." She kissed the line of his jaw. Edwina stroked his cheek u muscles in his arms relaxed. Bascomb, big and vital. Strong. Blusterin ly backlike a bull. A woman had left him. He'd alluded to it last night. She out nowmental note to return to that topic later. "No." Her lips brushed his. "N

"You *said* you were leaving. Didn't even leave me a note. No could have read it. At least not well."

oor and "Jonah, I didn't leave. Clearly. You watched me walk out of a secretielding in the library. I was in a tunnel, and—wait, who told you I left Rose. Let me guess, Mrs. Page, I'll warrant."

Bascomb's brow wrinkled in confusion. "No. Page was in Pol Buying a roast. Meg came to me wringing her hands. She said wh brought you tea, you stomped about, hands in the air. You couldn't t runningisolation. She said that I could send your things. Thomas said you didr one inwait to have your trunk brought down but insisted you be taken to Po k her inimmediately to catch the first coach to London. So I went to Portsmith

"Is that what he told you?" Edwina looked into his beautiful graveyes. "But I'm not from London, as I've reminded you often  $\epsilon$ 

ntil sheHampshire, my lord." The revelation of who was truly behi manipulation of the ledgers and the haunting had Edwina's head swin nous inIt had *never* been Mrs. Page.

"Thomas is simple. London is the only city he likely can name ou e of herPortsmith." Bascomb pulled her to him, pressing the tip of his nose i neck. "Eddie. What the bloody hell were you doing in the wall? You's You'redirt. You're bleeding. Covered in cobwebs."

Edwina sat back, tossing the handkerchief on the table. "Thom simple. Meg isn't timid. They've been stealing from you since you can Rose Abbey. There is no ghost. It's Meg, dressed up and fluttering tomeone Thomas pushed over the bookcase."

"Dear God. The blow to your head addled you. Meg?"

sed the "There are mistakes in the ledgers. Small, tiny little ove Tradesmen marked as paid, but not truly paid. Numbers altered. The you didn't check the ledgers. The sum they've taken is quite large al vent totogether. Hundreds of pounds. When your secretaries discover op. Sheirregularities, they were frightened away before making their sus ires. "Iknown."

Bascomb sat back, shaking his head. "That's impossible. It can't be ntil the "Entirely true, I'm afraid." Thomas came into the library, pushir g aboutPage before him, a pistol in her back. "Do I look simple to you no made alord?"

ever." "Thomas." Bascomb stood.

t that I "Surprised?" He pushed Mrs. Page away from him and pointed the Bascomb. "One move and I'll blow your head off, my lord."

ret door Bascomb's hands curled into fists. His eyes narrowed. "You bastal Abbey?stole from me."

"Well, you can't check your own ledgers. I'm really not to blame f rtsmith.lack of attention. Or is it intelligence? I'm not the simpleton in the roomen she A growl came from Bascomb. The scar stood out stark against his ake the "I'll see you hang for this."

i't even Edwina placed a hand on his arm, terrified Thomas would shoot his ortsmith "Doubtful. If Miss Collins had just stayed in the tunnel or died in ." the other attempts we made to rid Rose Abbey of her presence, you y-greenhave ended up with nothing more than bruised pride at knowing you enough.fleeced." Thomas shrugged. "As it is, I suppose you'll all be going i

nd thetunnels together." He looked at Edwina. "You've more lives than a camming. Collins. I'm not sure how you escaped the bookcase. Or Meg pushi down the stairs."

tside of "Agility," Edwina snapped.

into her Meg strolled into the room, looking nothing like the timid little mell of Edwina had taken her to be. Dressed in a gown of green silk, hair coiled with a small hat atop, Meg looked askance at Thomas. "She sur

as isn'tMeg's eye roved over Edwina. "Unbelievable. Well, I suppose we'll came to shoot them all. Just to be sure. No one will find the bodies in the about. Maybe they'll think the ghost—" She giggled and waved a hand a

Renalda. "—did away with them. Now"—her mouth hardened—"my you will please tell us where the gold is, we'll shoot you first and you rsights.have to see what Thomas does to Miss Collins."

y knew "There isn't any gold," Bascomb snarled. "There never was. And e l addeddid know the location, I wouldn't tell you."

'ed the Mrs. Page looked down at the rug.

picions *She knows where the gold is.* 

"A pity. I suppose you need an inducement. I refuse to believe you a true." didn't leave you at least a clue." Meg glared at him and tugged on a 1g Mrs.gloves. "But perhaps he told his lover. Thomas, shoot Mrs. Page 5w, mydoesn't tell us this instant"—Meg's voice rose an octave—"where it is Mrs. Page raised her chin. "Go ahead, Meg. You deceitful thins

Renalda didn't give up Rose Abbey's secrets, and neither will I."

e gun at "Fine. We'll do this the hard way." She nodded to Thomas to popistol at Edwina.

rd. You Edwina watched Thomas raise the pistol. Mrs. Page screame Bascomb roared as he launched himself at Thomas. The air in the for your became thick, suddenly, with the cloying scent of roses. A wall of air m." Edwina to the floor so hard her forehead hit the rug. She turned her cheek.see Meg, screaming in terror and running for the doors.

And those heavy, thick doors fell completely off their hinges, ki m. Meg to the floor.

any of A sound of pure fury filled the room. Like a hurricane forming in mightlibrary.

'd been Lady Renalda's portrait sailed across the room, the corner of the into the gilt frame catching Thomas in the eye. Rose petals fluttered in

nt, MissClutching his bleeding eye, Thomas wailed in pain, dropping the gung youweapon skittered across the floor, spinning to land right in front of Ednose.

Edwina lay gasping. Stunned. Roses permeated the very air arou e maidThe press of a hand gently stroked the back of her head, though no c arefullywas anywhere near her. Peace filled her. Calm. Stretching out he vived."Edwina curled her fingers around the gun, though it was hardly nec have toMeg was moaning in pain. Blood streamed from Thomas's eye.

tunnel. Mrs. Page was on her knees, weeping, a rose petal clutched againt Ladychest.

lord, if Bascomb shot Edwina a stunned look, his shocked gaze landing a won'tfloor where the portrait of Lady Renalda rested.

"Lady Renalda," Edwina whispered as a tear ran down her cheek. even if Isorry I said I didn't believe in you."

ir uncle pair of if she ."

3. Lady oint the ed, and library shoved head to nocking side the

heavy the air.

Clutching his bleeding eye, Thomas wailed in pain, dropping the gun. The weapon skittered across the floor, spinning to land right in front of Edwina's nose.

Edwina lay gasping. Stunned. Roses permeated the very air around her. The press of a hand gently stroked the back of her head, though no one else was anywhere near her. Peace filled her. Calm. Stretching out her hand, Edwina curled her fingers around the gun, though it was hardly necessary. Meg was moaning in pain. Blood streamed from Thomas's eye.

Mrs. Page was on her knees, weeping, a rose petal clutched against her chest.

Bascomb shot Edwina a stunned look, his shocked gaze landing on the floor where the portrait of Lady Renalda rested.

"Lady Renalda," Edwina whispered as a tear ran down her cheek. "I'm so sorry I said I didn't believe in you."

# **EPILOGUE**

Six months later

Rose Abbey was haunted.

Edwina walked to the edge of the graveyard, now neatly fenced c should have been years ago. The ruins of the church and what rema the abbey would continue to stand until they crumbled back into the Neither Bascomb nor Edwina had the heart to take either from Lady R She'd already lost so much.

"Thank you," Mrs. Page said from beside Edwina, looking at the stone in the graveyard. It wasn't easy to miss. Stark and white, it l angel carved atop, and one of Rose Abbey's bloodred rosebushes was curling about the stone. Mrs. Page's doing, no doubt.

"It was the very least Jonah and I could do. I still think it imp What happened that day. But I've no other way to explain any of it." had tried. One explanation was that a gust of wind had blown Lady Re portrait from the wall, except the windows had been shut. Another v the doors hadn't been properly maintained so the hinges had failed. A the case.

"So"—the housekeeper gave her a sideways glance—"you stil believe in ghosts?"

Edwina thought of all the times in the last few months when a compresence had enveloped her and she'd smelled roses in the air. The and Jonah had married, red rose petals had scattered across the bed. "I believe in Lady Renalda."

"I think she's at peace now," Mrs. Page said. "She is loved here. As she always should have been. I should tell you, Lady Bascomb. where—"

Taking the housekeeper's hand, Edwina stopped Mrs. Page finishing. "We don't want to know. Keep Rose Abbey's secrets, Mrs.

as your mother and grandmother did. As far as Lord Bascomb is con there is no gold buried away beneath the rosebushes." Only a se tunnels, the responsibility of maintaining the rosebushes used as falling to each housekeeper of Rose Abbey. The secret passed down the generations.

Her husband had chosen to keep the passage open only to the sealing the entrance from the church due to safety concerns. "You know," he'd said and winked at Edwina, "when we'll need to escape a raid."

off as it "I blame myself for Meg. And Thomas. You should dismiss me." ined of "I'm not going to endure Lord Bascomb alone, Mrs. Page." e earth.squeezed her fingers again. Page had a hard, crusty shell, but inside enalda.generous heart. She could not have known that the two servants were a

husband and wife. They'd fled London after stealing from their last en largestand ended up in Portsmith. Hearing the tales of hidden gold at Rose Dore an from the tavern owner's wife, the pair had sought positions at Rose Alalreadywas Meg who'd ascertained Bascomb's handicap shortly after Merry had arrived.

ossible. "It was kind of you to spare them. They didn't deserve it."

Edwina "I'm not sure they'd agree. But indentured servitude halfway acr nalda'sworld isn't nooses around their necks." Meg and Thomas should hav vas thathanged, but Edwina had asked for them to be exiled instead. Even also notthey'd tried to kill her. More than once. But she thought Lady Renalda have preferred leniency.

l don't The first thing Edwina had done once the constable had been call make sure the portrait of the abbess was returned to its proper place ifortinglibrary. She still worked at the same desk, pausing throughout the day she speak to Lady Renalda. Edwina was fairly certain she listened.

No, but "I should go back, Mrs. Page." She placed a hand on the housek shoulder, silently saying another prayer of thanks to Lady Renalda a Finally.brave nuns. "Stay as long as you like. I'll check on Mrs. Oates and din I know

The End

- e from
- 3. Page,

cerned, eries of a map through

beach, 1 never 1 Viking

Edwina beat a actually nployer Abbey bbey. It wimple

ross the ve been though would

led was e in the day to

teeper's and her ner."

#### **About the Author**

Kathleen Ayers is the bestselling author of steamy Regency and V romance. She's been a hopeful romantic and romance reader since Sweet Savage Love at a garage sale when she was fourteen while her was busy looking at antique animal planters. She has a weakness for to witty alpha males who can't help falling for intelligent, sassy heroines.

A Texas transplant (from Pennsylvania) Kathleen spends most summers attempting to grow tomatoes (a wasted effort) and floating backyard pool with her two dogs, husband and son. When not writ likes to visit her "happy place" (Newport, RI.), wine bars, make hon pizza on the grill, and perfect her charcuterie board skills. Visit <a href="https://www.kathleenayers.com">www.kathleenayers.com</a>.

#### **About the Author**

Kathleen Ayers is the bestselling author of steamy Regency and Victorian romance. She's been a hopeful romantic and romance reader since buying Sweet Savage Love at a garage sale when she was fourteen while her mother was busy looking at antique animal planters. She has a weakness for tortured, witty alpha males who can't help falling for intelligent, sassy heroines.

A Texas transplant (from Pennsylvania) Kathleen spends most of her summers attempting to grow tomatoes (a wasted effort) and floating in her backyard pool with her two dogs, husband and son. When not writing she likes to visit her "happy place" (Newport, RI.), wine bars, make homemade pizza on the grill, and perfect her charcuterie board skills. Visit her at <a href="https://www.kathleenayers.com">www.kathleenayers.com</a>.